

UNIVERSITE DU QUEBEC EN OUTAOUAIS

RESEARCH THESIS FOR THE JURY COMMITTEE OF THE UNIVERSITE

DU QUEBEC EN OUTAOUAIS

BY

VALERIE LUNDY

HOW PROJECT LEADERSHIP APPLIED TO A PROJECT REDUCES THE RESISTANCE LEVEL TO CHANGE: THE CASE STUDY OF THE CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER BRANCH (CIOB) OF ENVIRONMENT CANADA

January, 2012

Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank the Department of Environment Canada for allowing this research within its organization. Many thanks for each Environment Canada's employee of the Chief Information Officer Branch that agreed to be interviewed to gather valuable information for this research. Their level of knowledge and experience in the project management domain, have been greatly appreciated. The author would also like to thank the members of the Jury Committee from the Université du Québec en Outaouais for their time in reviewing, commenting and evaluating the work done related to this paper.

Last but not least; special thanks to the research director, Prof. Pierre-Paul Morin, for his priceless support, guidance and enlightenment throughout this whole research process. His comments and directives were constructive and helped in the outcome of this research.

Résumé

Cette recherche a pour but d'étudier l'impact du leadership de projet sur le niveau de résistance au changement au sein d'une organisation du Gouvernement du Canada (GduC). Avec la venue de la nouvelle politique de gestion de projet (GdP) du Conseil du Trésor (CT), plusieurs changements dans le domaine de la GdeP au gouvernement sont survenus et sont encore à prévoir. La méthodologie de recherche est celle d'une étude de cas qualitative sur *comment* le département de la technologie de l'information et de la gestion de l'information (TI/GI) du ministère d'Environnement Canada (EC) fait face à ce changement. Les entrevues effectuées avec les employés de ce département ont permis de souligner le fait que la présence d'un leader de projet avec un sens de l'engagement et des comportements sociaux appropriés, est nécessaire au sein d'un projet. Le leader du projet a en effet un impact important sur la réduction de la résistance au changement. L'étude démontre également que, peu

importe les qualités et le comportement positif du leader de projet, le support

préalable de la haute gestion, est un prérequis essentiel au succès du projet.

Table of Contents

Résumé	
Table of Contents	
Figure	vii
1. Introduction	1
2. Research Problem	6
2.1 Research Questions	8
2.2. Context	8
2.3 State of the literature	9
2.4 Nature of the Change: How does the change impact the Chief Information	
Officer Branch and its Stakeholders?	11
2.4.1 Background #1: Arrival of a New CIO for the CIOB	11
2.4.2 Background #2: Introduction of a new standardized PM methodology at	
CIOB	
2.4.3 Background #3: CIOB's Organization and Stakeholders Environment	
2.4.4. Background #4: Formal PM Changes applied to CIOB	
2.4.5. How all this background is reflected in the current CIOB	
(This Addendum has the purpose to clarify some of the content of the gathere	
data which will be presented and analysed in the "Presentation of Findings"	u
1	18
section of this paper) June 1 st , 2011: New Changes in the Government that impacted the CIOB of	10
	10
Environment Canada	
3. Research Objectives	
3.1. General Research Objective	
3.2 Specific Objective	
4. Research Constructs and Theoretical Framework	
4.1 Change	
Table 1	
Key Stakes Approach to Change	
4.2 Resistance to Change	
Table 2	28
Categories of Stakeholders	
4.3 Project Leadership	
5. Research Methodology	
5.1 Case Study Qualitative Research	
5.2 Literature Review	
5.3 Data Collection	
5.4 Semi-Structured Interview	
5.5. Participants	
5.6 Data Gathering and Analysis	41
5.7 Reliability	43
5.8 Validation	44
6. Presentation of Findings	46
6.1 Data Gathering by Semi-Structured Interviews	46
6.1.1 Selection of Participants	
Interviewees' Hierarchical Level and Years of Experience (GoC, PM, and both)	
6.2 Change	
6.2.1 Approach to Project Management	
6.2.2 Federal Government Change in Project Management	
,	ana saita

6.2.3 Links with Literature
6.3 Resistance to Change
6.3.1 Availability of Resources and the Organization's Support
6.3.2 Impacts on the Participant's Professional Future Plans
6.3.3 Impacts on the relationships between employees
6.3.4 Expected Resistance and its Related Decreasing/Increasing Factors59
6.3.5 Links with Literature
6.4 Project Leadership and its Impact on Change
6.4.1 The Role of the Project Leader and its Competencies related to Change 64
6.4.2 Impact of the Project Leader
6.4.3 Links with Literature
6.5 Conceptualization of the Findings
7. Discussion – Conclusions
7.1 Research Questions
7.2 Research Breakthroughs
7.3 Research Validity and Limitations
7.5 Implication for Future Research
7.6 Contributions to the Project Management Knowledge
8. References
Annex A: The Canadian Federal Public Administration Structure
Annex B: High Level Organization Chart of Environment Canada (as of April 30,
2011)
Annex C: High Level Organization Chart of Environment Canada (as of June 1,
2011)
Annex D: CIOB Project Management Framework
Annex E: Example of a CIO Branch Operations Reporting (BOC) and a Monthly
Operations Reporting (MOR)
Annex F: Example of a Project Oversight Review Summary One Pager Report93
Annex G: Leadership Competencies and Leadership Styles based on Dulewicz and
Higgs's Studies (2003, 2005)
Annex H: Interview Guide
Annex I: Consent and Confidentiality Agreement Form
Annex J: Chief Information Officer Branch's Employees' Distribution

V

List of Tables

Table

1 2	Key Stakes Approach to Change Stakeholders Categories	<u>26</u> <u>28</u>
3	Interviewees' Hierarchical Level and Years of Experience (GoC, PM, and	<u>47</u>
	both)	
4	Impact of the Change on the Interviewees' Daily Work	<u>51</u>
5	Source of the Organization Support to Face the Changes	<u>56</u>
6	Kind of Resistance Identified by Interviewees	<u>60</u>
7	Decreasing and Increasing Resistance Factors According to Interviewees	<u>60</u>
8	Role Levels of the Project Leader According to Interviewees	<u>64</u>
9	Project Leader Competencies Facilitating and Adversely Effecting the	
	Change (according to Interviewees)	<u>67</u>
10	The Project Leadership Competencies Identified by the Interviewees	
	Mapped to the Leadership Competencies and Leadership Styles of Dulewicz	
	and Higgs' Tool	70
11	Summary of the Case Study Research Key Findings	73

List of Figures

Figure

1. Introduction

1

Public sector organisations worldwide are expected to increase efficiency while simultaneously providing improved and integrated services (Crawford, *et al.*, 2003). The Canadian public sector is no exception to this reality. The Government of Canada (GoC) is currently taking a shift on how it defines and evaluates federal projects. Up to the end of 2007, federal projects were planned, tracked and reported based on their dollar-value, i.e. estimated for their Total Cost of Ownership (TCO). It has been recognized by Treasury Board (TB) that this TCO based approach to assess projects needed to be reviewed. Reports issued by the Auditor General in 1981, 2004 and 2005 on federal government research and development organizations¹ (GR&D) have been critical of the project management practices (Procca, 2008). Some of the points raised by the Auditor General were directed to: the limited use of formal project management documentation and processes; the absence or inappropriate use of project management practices and tools, the inconsistency within federal

organizations in their approach in conducting projects, and the low organization maturity when it comes to the overall practice of project management (Procca, 2008). These findings have been supported by a report by Sussex Circle Inc. (2003) for the federal government Council of Science & Technology Advisors (Procca, 2008). In 1994, the Auditor General acknowledged that not only project management practices ought to be improved in some of the federal organizations, but there is also a need for a cultural change toward a more business-like culture (Procca, 2008). This preceding conclusion has been a recurrent theme that the Treasury Board Secretariat (TBS) has

¹ Federal government research organizations (11): Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Canadian Space Agency, **Environment Canada**, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Health Canada, Industry Canada, National Defense, National Research Council Canada, Natural Resources Canada, and Transport Canada

aimed to address through different project management procedures, directives and reporting tools.

Accordingly, a more efficient and up-to-date approach was required to provide high level directives to federal departments in their progress with project management processes and practices in their organizations. This revised approach ultimately aims to increase the percentage of project success in the GoC. In October 2007, Treasury Board (TB) came up with a new policy called *Policy of the Management of Projects*. Since its creation, this Policy has been updated in December 2009 (TBS, 2009). This Policy is expected to bring a more tailored oversight of the evaluation procedure of projects. By April 1st 2012, the new PM policy will have to be implemented by all Departments of the GoC. A new perspective is now being introduced in the assessment process of federal projects. Instead of the previous TCO based project evaluation, projects would now be evaluated according to their level of risk and feasibility (TBS, 2009). A project assessment tool to support TB's PM policy and the

Project Complexity and Risk Standard (TBS, 2008) has been developed by TBS. This instrument is labelled as the *Project Complexity and Risk Assessment Tool (PCRA)* (TBS, 2009). This instrument is the GoC customized equivalent of a private sector based project risk assessment questionnaire derived from the *Continuous Risk Assessment* Guidebook developed by the Software Engineering Institute (TBS, 2008). As indicated by its title, the TBS assessment tool evaluates the risk and complexity level of a GoC project based on seven (7) project focus areas: 1) Project Characteristics, 2) Strategic Management Risks, 3) Procurement Risks, 4) Human Resource Risks, 5) Business Risks, 6) Project Management Integration Risks, and 7) Project Requirements Risks.

Projects are also (and officially will be) evaluated upon a Department's capacity to manage its own projects. This "project management capacity" of a Department is measured based on a standard developed by TBS called the *Organizational Project Management Capacity (OPMC)* (TBS, 2010).

The Treasury Board Secretariat (TBS) has been mandated to lead and manage the implementation of this new project management (PM) policy. Since 2007, TBS opted to implement this PM policy by phases (October 1st 2007) TBS, 2009). For the first phase in the end of 2007 early 2008, four Departments were invited to introduce the Policy into the management process of their major projects. These Departments were, Environment Canada (EC), National Defence Canada (DND), Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), and the Canada Border Services Agency (CBSA).

The essence of this research is based on the repercussion of this new PM policy on the information technology (IT) Branch of the Department of Environment Canada

(EC). More specifically, the focus will be on the Chief Information Officer Branch (CIOB) of EC.

Background Information: The Government of Canada (GoC) general systemic structure, the Department of the Treasury Board (TB) and the Treasury Board Secretariat (TBS)

The Canadian federal government structure and its bureaucracy are quite complex. The "time-consuming processes just to get basic decisions" is often the first factor that often influences bias perceptions of the general public and the private sector toward the GoC. The GoC is often perceived as being ineffective and dragging its feet when it comes to *making things happen*.

This sub-section has been added to provide an overview and some clarifications of the essential components of the federal government systemic structure. It will also broadly present the position and roles that the TBS plays within this federal "bureaucratic machinery" where everything and everyone has a purpose and a "raison d'être". Hopefully these clarifications will help the reader in putting into better perspectives the subject of this research, its related and defined problematic and the proposed solutions to address the raised problems.

Established in 1867, Treasury Board (TB) is a Cabinet committee. A Cabinet committee is basically a committee of federal government ministers. TB is responsible (for the Canadian Public Service) for: the federal accountability to the Canadian population (tax payers), the respect of values and ethics, the federal budget

and financial reporting (comptrollership), the approval of regulations, and the transmission of administrative decision issued by the Governor General of Canada. In essence, the TB manages the Canadian government by translating the policies and programs approved by Cabinet into a context proper for its implementation down to the federal departments. It also provides Departments with resources and administration assets (such as pre-established templates and processes) to undergo their work.

The TB has an administrative wing, the Secretariat, which is formally known as the Treasury Board Secretariat (TBS). The TBS has been established as a Department since 1966 (TBS, 2007). The TBS supports the TB with its committee of ministers. It also carries out its mandated statutory (e.g. legally authorized to) responsibilities of a central government agency (TBS, 2006). By being the central government agency of the federal government, the TBS is the employer of the core public administration, i.e. the federal departments and the other portions of the federal public administration as listed in the sections I and IV of the Financial Administration Act (FAA)². The FAA lists all the Departments, the Agencies, the Crown Corporations, the Special Operating Agencies (SOA) and the other federal organizations related to the federal public administration. For sake of further clarification, when reference is made to the "public service" it relates to:

... the several positions in or under

- (a) the departments named in Schedule 1 [off the FAA];
- (b) the other portions of the federal public administration named in Schedule IV;
- (c) the separate agencies named in Schedule V; [...]
 (Financial Administration Act Department of Justice, 2010)

5

A representation of the structure of the Canadian Federal Public Administration and the corresponding definitions of the terms used within the structure can be found in Annex A.

² Financial Administration Act (FAA) is one of the major acts governing the personnel, administration and the management in the public service. This act provides "for the financial administration of the Government of Canada, the establishment and maintenance of the accounts of Canada and the control of Crown corporations" (Department of Justice Canada, 2010).

2. Research Problem

As previously mentioned, TBS has been mandated to implement the new PM Policy in the Canadian Public Service. It is further TBS's mission to be familiar with the challenges confronting the management of projects in the Canadian government under the present project evaluation procedure. These challenges perceived to be even more complex in the case of soft projects (where the deliverables are services and intangibles), and are typically related to the implementation and management of project management standards and procedures. The forthcoming change in the project evaluation criteria, focusing on risk and feasibility, is expected to have a major impact on those problems. One of the consequences of the change will be to impose a formal PM methodology, compliant with TBS PM Directives and reporting expectations related to projects (TBS, 2007, 2008). Even if the new procedures are expected to deliver better long term results, they are also expected to create some significant short term resistance (Gilley *et al.*, 2009, Saksvik *et al.*, 2009, Jacob *et al.*, 2008). Indeed, the implementation of the new policy should impact organizational structures, capacities and processes (Crawford *et al.*, 2003).

Therefore, the research problem can be summarized as being the limited availability of guidelines regarding the management of the expected resistance to change resulting from the implementation of the new project evaluation criteria.

In this research, any branch within a federal Department impacted by the change will be considered as an independent organization (Hornstein, 2010). This should prove to be useful as the new procedure should foster the creation of new conceptual frameworks at the Department level, reflecting a shift from a centralized bureaucracy to a more flexible contextualized model (Crawford *et al.*, 2003). Under this model, it is expected that the need for new conceptual frameworks will arise locally and that the frameworks will include a focus both on strategic issues and structured managerial processes. The specific federal organization under study is the Chief Information Officer Branch (CIOB) of Environment Canada (EC). Not only is this branch presently implementing the required change in project evaluation criteria, but it also chose to do so using PM methodologies.

Because of this, it was appropriate to consider project management both as a tool to implement change in an orderly manner and as a change generating initiative by itself. In other words, projects generate change (Crafword *et al.*, 2003, Thoms *et al.*, 1999) and projects can be used to formally manage change (Fielder, 2010, Gareis, 2010, Lehmann, 2010, Gilley *et al.*, 2009, Schifalacqua *et al.*, 2009). These two perspectives should be instrumental in identifying issues regarding CIOB's objective

7

of facilitating the change process.

However, resistance to change, even in the narrower context of projects, is still a fairly comprehensive subject. Because of the scope of this research and because of the organizational constraints of CIOB, it was found more appropriate *to focus the research on the leadership aspect of change management. More specifically, this research will explore the impact of the project leader on the management of the resistance to change.* Not only is this perspective more useful in terms of providing CIOB with applicable conclusions, but it is conducive to a deeper understanding of this particular aspect of PM change.

2.1 Research Questions

In the process of examining the role of the project leader in reducing potential resistance to change, four questions will be addressed. The first two are required to contextualize the two last ones, which are the research questions:

- (CQ1) First, what is the nature of the required change resulting from the implementation of the new TBS PM process?
- (CQ2) Second, what are the potential resistance mechanisms against that change?
- (RQ1) Third, what is the influence of the project leader on the two previous questions?
- (RQ2) Fourth, what actions / behaviours / attitudes of the project leader can potentially facilitate the change?

Those questions will investigate the relationship, if any, between the leader's role and

competence and the team members' resistance to change.

2.2. Context

As in the private sector, public sector recognizes the benefits of project management (PM) (Crawford et al., 2003). Governments are increasingly encouraging the adoption of project-based management and use of more formal PM methodologies (Crawford et al., 2003). Therefore, the government shift towards a more formal PM practice is to be reflected by the implementation of the new PM policy in the public service. TBS defined project risk levels and project complexity

levels as evaluation criteria to be used in a new integrated approach of PM. The following benefits are expected from this approach: 1) an increased number of projects reaching their goals, 2) a clearer identification of who is (are) accountable for achieving project goals and outputs, 3) the minimization of project risks, 4) a reduction of project overlap(s) and/or duplication(s), 5) improved means to consult key project stakeholders and 6) enhance of the monitoring and reporting procedures of project outputs (TBS, 2009). In TBS terms, the principal result of readdressing the evaluation of projects on capacity and risk sums up to the following:

An appropriate capacity for managing projects, which reflects the level of project complexity and risk, and integrates decision-making across projects, will support the achievement and demonstration of value for money and sound stewardship. This appropriate capacity will also ensure an optimal contribution to program, organizational, horizontal and government outcomes. (TBS, 2009)

2.3 State of the literature

The history of literature in the PM and project domain pertaining to change, more specifically to change created by projects in an organization, is quite extensive (Collerette *et al.*, 1997, 2006, Lehmann, 2010, Jacob *et al.*, 2008, Krysinski, *et al.*, 1994). The concept of change in the PM Field has been studied and observed (via academic and/or hands-on studies in the industry) for decades (Lehmann, 2010). The effect of change in an organization and its impact inside and outside of the organization has also been well documented in management literature for decades (Gilley *et al.*, 2009, Szabla, 2007, Vas, 2005). Among the impacts of change is the resistance to change (Gilley *et al.*, 2009, Saksvik *et al.*, 2009, Jacob *et al.*, 2008, Laframboise *et al.*, 2003). Resistance to change is a well familiar studied concept

proven and examined by few researchers/authors in the PM Field (Fielder, 2010, Pinto *et al.*, 1998). In spite of these studies, few have been realized in the context of the Canadian federal government (Hornstein, 2010, Laframboise *et al.*, 2003). Fewer have been done to examine the resistance level resulted from changes created by a project in a federal department (Laframboise *et al.*, 2003). Inherently, rare solutions to reduce the level of resistance to change in the context of a federal department have been explored and proposed in past and recent studies (Hornstein, 2010, Laframboise *et al.*, 2003).

In the twentieth century literature, leadership has been studied and written on in thousands of books and references for at least the past eighty years (Turner *et al.*, 2005). As early as 500 B.C., effective leader virtues such as love, proper conduct, piety, and the doctrine of the mean have been defined by Confucius (Turner *et al.*, 2005). In the project management literature some consideration has been made towards leadership styles applied in projects but few has been written on the *impact*

of the leadership of a project manager on the project and its stakeholders (Yang *et al.*, 2010, Turner *et al.* (2005), Pinto *et al.* (1998)). Writings or studies on the concept of project leadership are somewhat scarce but growing (Müller *et al.*, 2010, Thoms *et al.*, 1999, Pinto *et al.*, 1998). Project leadership stimulates among other things, change on human components of a project through leadership (Schifalacqua, *et al.*, 2009, Turner *et al.*, 2005, Müller *et al.*, 2007, Battilana, *et al.*, 2010). Hence the human factor of leading change is among the essential aspects that ought to be considered when referring to project leadership (Schifalacqua, *et al.*, 2010, Clarke, 2010). There have been few researches made to study the impact of project leadership on changes created by projects in an organization (Battilana, *et al.*, 2010,

Gehring, 2007), few works on the impact of project leadership on the resistance to change (Kan, *et al.*, 2004, Oreg, *et al.*) and rare studies linking the impact of project leadership on change and resistance to change. Understandably, PM studies and researches realized in the context of the public sector related to leadership and its impact on change and resistance to change are very limited (Crawford *et al.*, 2003) and even more so in the context of the Canadian public service (Hornstein, 2010, Laframboise *et al.*, 2003).

2.4 Nature of the Change: How does the change impact the Chief Information Officer Branch and its Stakeholders?

2.4.1 Background #1: Arrival of a New CIO for the CIOB

The TBS's requirements have an indirect purpose of making the overall project management practice and the reporting of project related activities more transparent, logic, and part of an established work process (TBS, 2009). This somewhat *imposed*

change has its impact on each federal department (and its related branches) part of the public service. Applied to the CIOB's reality, the impact meant to review and apply a more formalized or known project management practice to a branch that is mandated for undergoing all Environment Canada's IT/IM operating activities and enabled projects. The arrival in 2008 of a new Assistant Deputy Minister (ADM) equivalent to the Chief Information Officer (CIO) for the CIOB of EC brought substantive changes of procedures on how projects would be managed. An electrical engineer undergrad and grad (specialty in radar systems), the new CIO had substantive work experiences in the military, computer science, engineering and PM Fields. He then joined the public service in 2006 as a Director General, Chief Technology Office (CTO) for the IT Services Branch of Public Works and Government Services. Throughout these years of work experience, he often had to act either as a project manager, project lead or project executive for IT/IM and/or military based projects. Since his PM knowledge and experience were already well founded before joining EC's CIOB, he arrived having specific PM preferred approaches. Among them, was his great appreciation and support of the PRINCE2[®] Project Management Methodology³.

2.4.2 Background #2: Introduction of a new standardized PM methodology at the CIOB

Consequently, the combination of the new TBS PM Policy and the arrival of this new CIO were bound to create a significant wave of change in the PM practice of the CIOB. The branch has to comply with the new PM Policy. However, the branch's High Management (e.g. group lead by the CIO, joined by the director generals and/or director levels) has a certain level of organization and process latitude on the means by which they reach the PM Policy compliance. From TBS's expectations, the CIOB is required to appropriately report on projects, in due time, and provide a set of minimum proof of proper PM tracking blueprint. Thus, for the CIOB's ADM the first and primal change focus was: the introduction and the progressive application of the PRINCE2[®] PM Methodology.

³ PRINCE2[®] which stands for "PRojects IN a Controlled Environments" originated from the UK government via the Office of the Government Commerce (OGC). Contrary to PMBOK (PMI teachings) this is a non-proprietary PM **methodology** providing a framework for managing any project of any size (OGC, 2007). The PRINCE2[®] approach is often used in the military project environment.

The nature of the required change from the CIOB would include a review of current work procedures of how the projects are created, chosen, managed, tracked and reported within the branch. It also would require from the assigned CIOB project managers and some of the project members, to undertake formal PM trainings such as formal PRINCE2[®] courses. By formal, it means to get either a Foundation PRINCE2[®] level of certification or a Practitioner level certification⁴. The preceding has the purpose to better situate the CIOB in its PM practices and carry the organization into a "PRINCE2[®] Project Governance Framework" as the CIO mentioned in one of his All Staff Meeting (Dec 2010) which is comprised of the CIOB PRINCE2[®] based PM Methodology (see Annex D).

2.4.3 Background #3: CIOB's Organization and Stakeholders Environment

To better grasp the possible CIOB stakeholders of that change, further explanation of the branch setting is provided. As previously mentioned, the equivalent of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) for the CIOB is at an Assistant Deputy Minister (ADM) level. Under the authority of this ADM, there are about eight hundred and forty (840) full time public servants employees⁵ (also known as FTE's: Full-Time Equivalent) divided into five directorates with each having an executive head, i.e. a director general. Under each directorate are divisions each leaded by a director. The majority of the employees in the CIO branch are classified (formalized GoC job

⁴ PRINCE2[®] Certifications are two levels of accredited courses. The *Foundation* is a three-day course with multiple-choice exam at the third day. Its purpose is for the participants to have a good understanding of the P2[®] principles, project roles, terminology and method. The *Practitioner* is a five-day course with a writing exam at the last day. Purpose is for participants to be able to apply P2[®] to the running and managing of at minimum non-complex projects within an environment supporting P2[®]. One cannot take the Practitioner course if the Foundation has not been taken and passed.

⁵ Approximate number (2% margin error) as of January 2011

classification) as CS's (Computer Systems). The CS levels can go from CS1 to CS5. In the context of EC-CIOB, CS1's are considered junior in their related computer systems expertise. CS2 are usually computer systems expert technicians. CS3's are team leads and/or project leads. CS4's are usually managers and/or project managers, and finally CS5's are director level doing executive tasks. CS's make for about 82%⁶ of CIOB's pool of employees. Other found work classifications in the branch are essentially providing services in the branch outside the discipline of computer science. Focus of this case study is on the CS classified employees group which are mostly involve in the project delivery process at CIOB. Clarification (and justification) of the selection process and number of interview participants, will be made later in the paper. A high level organizational chart of the CIOB of EC with the previous divisions/subdivisions is annexed (Annex B) to this paper. The department, directorates, and divisions with key roles to the objectives of this case study (as defined in the "Research Objectives" section of this paper) are red highlighted in Annex B and further explanations are given below.

2.4.4. Background #4: Formal PM Changes applied to CIOB

As previously indicated, the CIOB ADM requires that the PRINCE2[®] PM methodology be used and implemented in the delivery of its IM/IT based projects. The mandate of reviewing the PM practice and overall PM process within the Branch, and implementing this standardized PRINCE2[®] PM methodology, has been given to the division of the **Project Delivery Office** (PDO) created in June 2008. The researcher and author of this paper is an employee of the PDO at EC. The PDO is

⁶ Idem

under the Service Standards & Office of the CIO directorate (part of the CIOB) (see Annex B). The PDO is comprised of the main CIOB projects and particularly the existence of the **Project Management Support Office (PMSO)**. The PMSO provides PM advice, coaching, guidance, and support based on the PRINCE2[®] methodology for all CIOB projects. It coordinates PRINCE2[®] workshop/training for the branch. It additionally provides these services for other EC departments when necessary for important EC projects or for projects in need of a PM "re-structure". The PDO is making its reputation at EC of a team composed of PRINCE2[®] PM Practitioner and Foundation CS3-CS4 certified employees. The PMSO is increasingly being known as a resource of project management with PRINCE2[®] experts.

2.4.5. How all this background is reflected in the current CIOB

Since the beginning of the 2009-2010 government fiscal year (start date April 1,

15

2009), all CIOB project managers are to formally use the PRINCE2[®] PM methodology in the management of their assigned projects. Based on the principles of this methodology, a project in the branch would not be called "a project" per se until a project manager has received (or agreed) from a project executive/project sponsor, a project mandate. A project mandate (in the PRINCE2[®] context) is a high level description of the proposed project. Once the mandate is agreed and understood, the project manager would then officially "Start-Up" the now formally labelled project. The project manager along with the project team would simultaneously undergo the delivery of the project while filling up a series of specific PM PRINCE2[®] based templates created by the PMSO. The number of PM templates to be filled and the

amount of expected information depend on the project size, risk, complexity, the organization strategic plan, and budget. A project that would be linked to one of the main organization strategic outcomes, involve important aspects of complexity and risk (e.g. public exposure), require a significant budget, etc., is expected to have a more detailed and dense amount of project documentation. According to the PRINCE2[®] PM methodology, the project delivery includes five (5) main process stages, where one of them "I- Directing a project" (which is the responsibility of the project executive) is done in parallel of the other four (4) main process stages: II-Starting Up a project, III- Initiating a project, IV- Controlling and Managing a stage of a project, and V- Closing a project. Accordingly, the PMSO not only provides any guidance or support to any project team member in filling up the PM templates related to these project phases (and any project related document) but when required or requested, also brings assistance in the project management overall delivery process of any CIOB project. This also includes helping project managers/project executives in filling up the TBS' project assessment tool, the PCRA (as defined in the

paper's "Introduction" section). In the context of the EC "PRINCE2[®] Project Governance Framework" (Dec 2010), the PCRA should be completed at the Initiating project stage. Once completed, the PCRA project score should not only provide information for project reporting to TB but also help and support the project team (including project executive) in redefining the project expectations, requirements, and outcomes from the organization's perspectives.

CIOB is therefore increasingly including and contextualizing the new PM directives as established by the TBS with its use of the PRINCE2[®] PM methodology in the delivering <u>and reporting</u> of its projects. For instance, on a monthly basis all

CIOB projects are to be reported at the Branch Operations Committee (projects matters) and Monthly Operating Report (for any other initiatives, program, work status) (BOC/MOR). An example of a BOC/MOR report has been annexed (Annex E). Generic project information and status updates are provided. Among the reported information is the allocated project budget, the project manager/project executive, the current project process stage. The status updates are color coded (green-yellow-red basis) and generally concern project specifics such as project scope, schedule, risk, HR, procurement, compliance with budget. Project highlights are added when necessary or when important enough to be raised. The project process status became increasingly important in 2010 as new, more directed indications have been set to all employees of the branch. It was now expected that for any completed project stage if the corresponding PM documentation has not been completed or agreement has not been reached between the project sponsor and the project manager regarding the content of these documents: the project report status should reflect a yellow or even red status related to the current project stage. It is expected that at the following

17

monthly report this same project stage status should be reflected as Green (showing that appropriate measures have been taken to ensure proper and thorough PM practice).

Since October 2010, a new project reporting entity has been created within the CIOB. The **Project Oversight Committee (POC)** assumes the PRINCE2[®] project management role of programme/corporate management for any project which the CIOB is entirely accountable for its delivery. The POC is the ultimate management decision making body for the CIOB project delivery process. Projects for which the CIOB shares the accountability (e.g. significant contributor) the POC not only

oversees the CIOB components, issues (resolve), resources etc. related to the project but ensures the efficient delivery of its obligations. The POC is structured as a formal committee of senior management representatives from all CIOB directorates. Other EC Branches are invited to the meetings when required specific field experts. The POC is chaired by the CIOB ADM (CIO). The other members are composed of director general and directors of the CIO Branch. The POC meetings are set as required by the Branch senior management. The goal is to have POC project reporting on a regular and automatic quarterly meetings for chosen projects (e.g. more significant, or sensitive, risky and/or complex projects). The requirements and fields to be filled for the POC reporting are quite more substantive compared to the BOC/MOR reporting requirements. An example of a summary one pager POC project report has been annexed to this paper (Annex F). In view of the increase amount of project information and the expected quality of this info to be given to senior management, the PDO is aiming to eventually remove the BOC project reporting to replace it with the quarterly POC project reporting to senior management (and

probably a monthly reporting to the project sponsor(s)).

Addendum

(This Addendum has the purpose to clarify some of the content of the gathered data which will be presented and analysed in the "Presentation of Findings" section of this paper)

June 1st, 2011: New Changes in the Government that impacted the CIOB of Environment Canada

In the course of this case study, several changes and decisions were made in the federal government. Few of these changes are worth mentioning for sake of adding precision to the background/contextual environment behind this case study and to clarify the context of some of the gathered data. After the forty-first general federal election of May 2nd, 2011 and the re-election of the Conservative party, Prime Minister Harper followed through with his intentions of saving costs (aka cut expenses) in the public service. To do so, the federal Departments have been asked to realign their structural organization and review their programs in view of the reduced allocated budget (aka budget cuts). These cuts fluctuated depending on the Department or the federal organization's size and according to the Government's priorities for the next 3-4 fiscal years¹.

For example, the government has planned to reduce its expenses by 5-10% by end of January 2012 (PIPSC, 2011). An inevitable consequence of this total expenditure reduction for the federal Departments and organizations, is the use of the public service Work Force Adjustment (WFA). WFA is basically a synonym of "resources reduction".

a) The Application of the Work Force Adjustment (WFA)

The Work Force Adjustment is a directive that can be applicable (i.e. is part of the several public servants collective agreements) in situations such as when substantive budget cuts are applied to one, few or all federal Departments or organizations for which the Treasury Board is the employer (e.g. as listed in Schedule I and IV of the Financial Administration Act – see Annex A). The government has established special programs for federal organizations to facilitate the application of the WFA (PSAC, 2011).

The WFA has impacted EC to the extent that few organization changes were made. Among EC's structural modifications, were the re-organization and the creation of a new branch: the Corporate Service Branch (CSB). The CSB with its new and acting Assistant Deputy Minister (ADM) is comprised of the five former CIOB directorates and the Asset, Contracting and Environmental Management (ACEM) group (Annex C). The significant changes in the former CIOB pertaining to project management were the dismantlement of the PDO and the PMSO. It was however decided to keep the function of the Project Oversight Committee (POC) for projects under the CSB and the Branch Operation Committee (BOC)/Monthly Operating Report (MOR) for executive monthly reporting.

b) Creation of the Shared Services Canada Agency

In addition to the WFA in the summer of 2011, the Government announced on August 4th, 2011 (and launched) the creation of a new federal Agency: Shared Services Canada (SSC) (PWGSC, 2011). SCC has the mandate to transform IT services in the federal government by consolidating IT resources and services (centralizing) in three main areas: email services, data center services, and electronic network services. In a nutshell, it aims at standardizing the process of providing IT services with updated IT technologies and with enough flexibility to support departmental mandates (for each Department) for the previously listed areas.

The changes and realignment undertaken by the government in the summer of 2011 has not affected the application and the planned end date of the transition period of the TBS's new PM policy of April 1, 2012 (TBS, 2009).

Finally, for the context and purpose of this Case Study all the changes presented in this Addendum will not alter or impact the purpose of this research and the sought solution to the research questions. The CIOB continues to be considered and studied as an IM/IT organization.

^a: A Fiscal Year (FY) in the government starts from April 1st to March 31st of the following year

End of Addendum

3. Research Objectives

3.1. General Research Objective

The main outcome of this research is to propose factors to be considered by project managers in the context of the IT Branch of EC, that would reduce the level of resistance to change created by IT/IM based projects. The impact of project leadership on change and inherently on the resistance level to change will be studied. As previously mentioned, a project manager having a level of project leadership is expected to have positive impacts (reducing effect) on change and the resistance level to change. These positive impacts will ultimately be converted into factors to reduce the resistance to change. These factors will then be used to ultimately develop a solution model, a PM implementation model for an IT/IM oriented federal department.

3.2 Specific Objective

To implement and contextualize the preceding general objective, as previously introduced, this research aims at developing a PM implementation model solution and possible conditions for its application (Fielder, 2010, Procca, 2008) based on the reality of the IT Branch of EC. This model would be in response to the new TBS PM Policy changes, and founded on the TBS expected benefits of the new integrated PM approach (TBS, 2009). From the project manager's perspective, this model applied to the organization of the Chief Information Officer Branch of EC, would constitute a possible project management comprehensive tool for the project managers to manage change generated by their projects. It would also assist them in their effort in dealing with the counter-reaction of resistance to change.

4. Research Constructs and Theoretical Framework

4.1 Change

The first concept to be applied in this research and to address the first context research question (CQ1) is change. As reminder CQ1 is: *What type of change would be required by this new approach of assessing projects in the federal government?* The change in question here is the kind created in a workplace, which impacts both an organization and how it manages its projects. Change by its nature almost always disturbs, one way or another the equilibrium of powers, the portion of perceived advantages from stakeholders, the required involvements within the organization, and the current work practices (Langley *et al.*, 2008, Laframboise *et al.*, 2003). Generally speaking, one could agree that a possible universal, generic and simple definition of "change" could be: *a variation from one state/ form to another* (Lewin, 1951, Collerette, *et al.* 1997, Gilley, *et al.*, 2009). If we consider an organization as a human

body with an immune **system** (Gilley, *et al.*, 2009, Jacob *et al.*, 2008) then and as the human body's immune system its natural tendency is to maintain and defend its equilibrium state or status quo (Gilley *et al.*, 2009, Collerette *et al*, 1997). When change occurs, a series of several categories of events and reactions follow: e.g. organization restructuration, modified work and decision processes, work dynamic transition, different levels of resistance from impacted individuals, etc. (Jacob *et al.*, 2008, Collerette *et al.*, 2006, Langley *et al.*, 2008). Taking on change can be a serious challenge. As written in *The Prince* by Machiavelli (published in 1532) translated by Marriot (2001):

... it ought to be remembered that there is nothing more difficult to take in hand, more perilous to conduct, or more uncertain in its success, then to take the lead in <u>the introduction of a new order of things</u>. Because the innovator has for enemies all those who have done well under the old conditions and lukewarm defenders in those who may do well under the new.

Change can be an even bigger challenge when it ought to be applied in the public sector (Hornstein, 2010, Jacob *et al.*, 2008). Among the recognized challenges among the subject experts of undertaking change are: the size of organizations, the multitude of different groups of stakeholders impacted by the new governance, a large mission, the rigid legal structure, established dispositions set in the collective agreements, stagnant informational and technological processes applied in rather unchanging applications, and limited financial resources (Hornstein, 2010, Jacob *et al.*, 2008). In the public sector, changes to be made to the organization's structure may involve concrete goals with precise schedules hence, easier to manage. Whereas transformations involving changes to paradigms, are more complicated to manage in a governmental environment (Hornstein, 2010). These transformations of cultural or

systemic nature require a greater time investment (Jacob et al., 2008, Laframboise et al., 2003).

The concept of "change project" (Krysinski, *et al.*, 1994) has its significance in this research. As previously introduced, the changes originated by TBS are to be managed by projects in the organization of the EC-CIOB (Lehmann, 2010, Jacob *et al.*, 2008). These "change projects" generate systemic changes (i.e. affecting the organization) at the EC/CIO branch. Systemic change is a long-term continual engagement that usually goes through phases linked by unrestrained time frames (Krysinski, *et al.*, 1994). Hence, many aspects need to be looked into when dealing

with a change project. The critical factor is *time*. The time to allowing the stakeholders to acknowledge, understand, verbalize, learn, and lead a change project (Laframboise, *et al.*, 2003, Krysinski, *et al.*, 1994). The time factor can be transposed into a stage(d) approach in dealing with change projects. As defined in the article by Krysinki, P.R. and Reed, D.B. (1994) at the early stages of a new change project the four phases to keep in mind are:

Phase 1 - a) the stakeholders' assessment and awareness,

- b) the project change assessment including the planning of the implementation, monitoring and evaluation stages.
- Phase 2 the project implementation including the implication and coaching of the essential stakeholders.
- Phase 3 the monitoring of the project change plan.
- Phase 4 the evaluation of the plan (assessment of the new "way" of doing things)

The phases may appear to be sequential but throughout the project change time frame (which can last up to several years) these phases can be cyclical and/or iterative until the project completion.

Therefore because of its complexity, especially in the public service, it could be conceivable that to increase the chances of successful change three things might have to be considered in this research: 1) the nature of the change affecting the IT branch of EC which could be for instance occasional, continual (progressive), or both (Collerette, *et al.*, (1997), Langley *et al.*, 2008), 2) to adopt a stepwise approach to change (Laframboise *et al.*, 2003), and 3) to subdivide the change into specific critical

stakes (objectives). The preceding should increase the main stakeholders' understanding and the legitimacy of the change to be undertaken (Jacob *et al.*, 2008, Krysinski, *et al.*, 1994). Diagnosing, planning and reviewing a change action plan with clear objectives and finally implementing that plan, has historically been an agreed way to go about managing change (Gilley *et al.*, 2009, Jacob *et al.*, 2008). Not only the steps for undertaking change (the "how") need to be well defined but the reasons and visions of its objectives (the "why") should also be communicated (Jacob *et al.*, 2008, Laframboise *et al.*, 2003). One option for the researcher is to consider the possible usefulness of analyzing the changes originated from the Policy and the changes to be made to the EC IT branch to address the Policy, by means of a new or existing change model - e.g. Lewin, Ulrich, or Kotter's model - (Gilley *et al.*, 2009). As previously mentioned, the main purpose of this research is to provide useful factors for project managers in succeeding in the implementation of change by reducing the resistance to it. To be successful, change ought to be carried out upon the inspiration of Machiavelli's quote (as stated before) where the "old" habits and

25

culture need to be broken to free the organization and its people to innovative perspective (Hornstein, 2010, Huntoon, 1998).

In the context of public service, to address change and strategize it, the approach that ought to be considered is to breakdown the analytical framework by key stakes (objectives) such as (see Table 1):

Table 1

Key Stakes Approach to Change

Key Stakes (Objectives) Categories	Description
Rational Stakes:	Capacity to improve – realistic, reasonable improvements
Human Stakes:	Capacity to contribute – direct stakeholders ⁷ involvement
Political Stakes:	Capacity to cooperate – indirect stakeholders ⁸ cooperation
Symbolic Stakes:	Capacity to self-identify – bring meaning to change

4.2 Resistance to Change

The second concept to be applied in this research and consequential to the first defined concept of change is the resistance to change. Studying the resistance to change in the case study of the CIO branch of EC will address the second context research question (CQ2): *What is the resulted resistance of this imposed change* (by TBS)? It has been mentioned in this paper that among the imminent consequences of change is the resistance to change (Gilley *et al.*, 2009, Karp *et al.*, 2008). By aiming to understand through the literature research how and why resistance occurs it will help assessing how to deal with the resistance and eventually reduce it in the context of a project. There are several reasons for resisting change: uncertainties of the unknown, novelty, routine distraction, culture change, loss of status-control-powersecurity, etc. (Gilley *et al.*, 2009, Laframboise *et al.*, 2003, Krysinski *et al.*, 1994,). For the purpose of this research, when referring occasionally to the level of acceptance of change (instead of level of resistance) from a singular or a group stakeholder, it does not necessarily mean there is no resistance from that stakeholder.

⁷ Individuals directly impacted by a project change or a change project

⁸ Individuals indirectly impacted by a project change or change project (but could be divergent factors to the change(s))

Even if a majority within a group accepts change one should not overlook the fact there still a portion that is still resisting (Laframboise *et al.*, 2003). From the article published by Gilley, A. Godek, and Gilley, J.W. (2009), if taken from the angle of levels of general acceptance, stakeholders can be regarded as (Table 2):

 \tilde{r}

Table 2

Categories of Stakeholders

Categories of "General acceptance" for Stakeholders	Description
Innovators:	Enterprising, information seekers
Early Adopters	Opinion leaders respected members of a social group
	Deliberated accepters of change
Early Majority: Late Majority ⁹ :	Skeptical and sometimes surrender to peer pressure to change
Laggards ¹⁰ :	Traditional relentless individuals attempting to hold on to the past
Note. Taken from From the	article published by Gilley, A. Godek, and Gilley, J.W
(2009)	

Assessing the level of acceptance of change from stakeholders related to the ITenabled projects of the CIO branch of EC, and understanding the reasons and context for which they have come to accept these changes will allow to extracting the common links (factors) of acceptance to change. It is therefore the intention behind this exercise by evaluating the level of acceptance to derive the level and the forms of resistance of the impacted stakeholders. The comprehension of the roots underlying

the whys and the "by which means" of the resistance constitute a good basis on which

solutions to reducing the resistance level are proposed in this research.

According to Jacob, *et al.* (2008), among the expected items to consider in studying factors to reduce resistance to change includes:

- to distinguish the constructive to counter-productive resistance to change;

^{9,10} : Mostly resistant to change

- the implication of the main stakeholders in the change process via interactive communication involving sharing and dispatching information by any useful means;
- to demonstrate the necessity of the change as a plus-value to the impacted individuals;
- an appropriate learning plan to break the incrusted routine work practices and beliefs (culture);
- the credibility of the change instigators'; and
- the positive outside perception to the approach to change

When associating the change concept with the resistance to change, two observations ought to be kept in mind: 1) change enablers by their interventions or incorporations can change projects and organizations but in return, projects and organizations can also modify the nature of these change interventions while being implemented (Langley, *et al.*, 2008), and 2) resistance is often a symptom of an

unease feeling rather than a rising human shield against change (Jacob, *et al.*, 2008, Laframboise *et al.*, 2003). Change and resistance to change are dynamic phenomenon. Depending on the change process, its interaction with change enablers and the stakeholders (direct and indirect), the change originally planned can eventually be transformed to a more contextualized change (Langley, *et al.*, 2008).

4.3 Project Leadership

Project Managers play a central role in their organizations. They serve project executives to reach their project objectives by 1) linking a variety of stakeholders, 2)
trying to keep a unified project team spirit and 3) aiming to balance the requirements, time and cost constraints throughout the project life. It is then understandable for numerous authors to indicate that leadership skills are among the essential qualities that project managers can possess or gain (Thoms *et al.*, 1999, Pinto *et al.*, 1998).

Leadership in its essence is about transforming ideas and notions into action (Elkins *et al.*, 2003), Pinto *et al.*, 1998, Krysinski *et al.*, 1994). In view of the literature (in the general interest and multidisciplinary areas such as management, organization, business, education etc.) this specific concept seems to generate two main schools of perception that sums up to *you are either born a leader or you become* one (Battilana *et al.*, 2010, Geoghegan, *et al.*, 2008, Gehring, 2007, Turner *et al.*, 2005, Pinto *et al.*, 1998). It is important to underline the fact that the intention behind this project research is not to pick a side between leadership as an inherent part of a personality and leadership as a quality gradually being taught and/or trained. To examine this duality within the notion of leadership, could be the source of a

separate project research and is outside the scope of this paper.

Henceforth, the final concept to be studied and applied to this work is the notion of project leadership. Using the case study approach to research (management) leadership is consistent with earlier studies made on leadership in projects (Müller *et al.*, 2010). If undergoing a project change can have its string of hurdles, practicing project leadership is challenging especially because it directly tackles the management of human resources (Karp *et al.*, 2008, Pinto *et al.*, 1998). Project leadership will be crucial to the analytical portion of this research since its impact will be studied on the management of projects at the CIOB of EC. Investigating on

change and resistance to change will first be used to portraying the historic background of the CIO of EC and its management of IT enabled-projects. Once the conceptual framework is depicted for the two preceding defined concepts, the project leadership notion will be fundamental in addressing the two research questions:

- (RQ1) What is the influence of the project leader on the nature of the required change resulting from the TBS PM Process change and on the potential resistance mechanisms against that change?
- (RQ2) What actions / behaviours / attitudes of the leader can potentially facilitate the change?

The introduction of the concept of project leadership in this case study where change is generated by projects is fundamental. It will allow analyzing the consequences of leadership on change projects based on the *competence school* (Müller *et al.*, 2010, Geoghegan *et al.*, 2008, Gehring, 2007, Dulewicz *et al.*, 2005,

Turner *et al.*, 2005). The competency school, which has been emergent since the 1990s includes all the previous leadership schools (i.e. behaviour school, contingency school, visionary and charismatic school, emotional intelligence school) (Müller *et al.*, 2010). According to previous researches and studies "competence" is generally accepted as being a combination of knowledge, skills, attitudes, and behaviour that trigger work performance (Müller *et al.*, 2010, Gehring, 2007). Focus is therefore to visit the influence and impact of leaders' competence in the process delivery of change projects. This case study will help to elucidate in the public service framework, if project leadership will have a positive or negative impact, i.e.

facilitating or impeding/delaying the stakeholder acceptance of the change generated by the project delivery process; or have no effect on the stakeholder acceptance level.

In 2003 Dulewicz and Higgs have developed an assessment tool called *Leadership Development Questionnaire (LDQ)* and a model, which are increasingly used, in recent studies on the subject of leadership in project management. The LDQ is a well-known and recognized questionnaire (for its scientific thoroughness in its creation) for the adapters of the competency school of leadership (Müller *et al.*, 2010, Geoghegan *et al.*, 2008, Dulewicz et al., 2005). In developing this tool, Dulewicz and Higgs did an extensive review of leadership studies, researches, theories, and assessment tools and highlighted and used fifteen (15) leadership dimensions to identify three (3) leadership profiles for organizational change projects. These dimensions, leadership profiles and corresponding brief description can be found in Annex G. These dimensions and leadership profiles will be compared and analyzed with the gathered information from the interviews. Similar leadership components

(between Dulewicz and Higgs' study and the interviews) will be extracted and form the basis of the analysis of evaluating the impact of these leadership components on change and the resistance of change at the CIOB of EC.

5. **Research Methodology**

Case Study Qualitative Research 5.1

The Case Study methodology is chosen for this research because it will allow a more holistic, in-depth investigation of the subject matter in the context of a federal department (Yin, 2009). The suggested and previously defined constructs of change, resistance to change and project leadership will be studied in the context of the subject of this case study. The said subject, i.e. the CIOB of EC, will be regarded as an organization. This approach should provide the "subjective reality" of the current state of the organization, its projects, and the three research concepts, as perceived by the case study population. These viewpoints taken from the solicited participants will form the basis of the gathered data and its analysis. The participants' perspective will hopefully facilitate the research pragmatic approach to understanding the CIOB of EC

and the methodology in seeking solutions to the research questions.

Taken from the constructivist paradigm of Piaget (1967), this project research will be a phenomenologic qualitative research approach based on the CIOB of EC as the case study. It has been mentioned in the article written by Jacob et al., (2008) on the management of the strategic change in public organizations, that the case study is believed to be a good vehicle to highlight key success factors for implementing change in the public service. The milieu of the public service is also generally identified as more inclined to "let itself" be observed than the private sector for sake of research or phenomenologic concept studies (Jacob et al., 2008). It is therefore believed that knowledge development might be more significant in the public sector than the private sector. In view of the interest of this research on change, resistance to change and the project leadership impact on the change resistance in a public organization, some of Jacob *et al.*'s (2008) findings are applicable in this case study. The scope of work of this research involves the literature review of the defined three concepts, an analysis of a semi-structured interview touching these concepts in the context of the GoC, and the development of a project management (PM) implementation model solution. This PM model solution would serve to identify gaps between a federal government department's structure-culture and the optimal project management structure-culture (Hornstein, 2010). It would also serve as providing recommendations on ways (solutions) to linking these gaps and develop possible conditions for its application.

5.2 Literature Review

34

The literature review has few folds: 1- to explore and develop a fundamental understanding of each featured concept, i.e. Change, Resistance to Change and Project Leadership; 2- to develop an understanding of the cultural-structural background of project management (PM) of IT enabled-projects in the CIOB of EC; 3- to examine methods/procedures for increasing the PM maturity and practice at the EC-CIOB; and 4- to review existing PM models. The literature review findings will then be compared and be considered when analysing the gathered information from the proposed semi-structured interviews to be given to few public servant employees. More details are provided on this matter in the next section.

5.3 Data Collection

The literature search is comprised of searching through two main online databases engine tools (University du Quebec en Outaouais (UQO) online library/publications tool and the Haute Étude Commerciale (HEC) online library/publications tool) to access scientific and professional Web site publications (e.g. International Journal of Project Management (IJPM), Project Management Journal (PMJ), Leadership and Organizational Development Journal (LODJ), International Journal of Public Administration, Public Administration and Management, The Leadership Quarterly, Telescope). Other sources of publications are also searched such as peer-reviewed publications, government reports, specialized textbooks written by researchers and practitioners. Keywords such as "project change, project management, change organization, change management, resistance to change, leadership, project leadership, leadership-resistance, federal government, public service, government of Canada", have been used independently or in combination in the online searching engine tools. As the research evolves and following an iterative methodology, there is

an increased amount of more concise gathered information pertaining to or applicable to the milieu of project management. The researcher can thus cultivate a richer and indepth level of work.

An extensive and iterative search has been done. In view of the status of the existing literature and the scope of this research, saturation has been reached through the literature review of the fields of the three key research concepts.

5.4 Semi-Structured Interview

A semi-structured interview will be used for interviewing sixteen solicited employees (participants) of the CIOB of EC and chosen on three hierarchical levels. On contrary to the other interview formats, the semi-structured interview with its included open-ended questions would help to better define and emphasize the perceptions of the participants on concepts related to the research questions. The semi-structured interview provides direct information (from each participant), different or even new perspectives of the case study. It finally verifies by means of the interview questions particularities of the research investigation (Aktouf, 1987). Since the researcher is a current employee in the studied organization, observation is an additional advantage to cultivate a better understanding of the context and research interests to then develop effective semi-structured questions.

Even if the researcher is a current employee of the studied organization,

independence between the participants and the interviewer will scrupulously be respected in the data gathering process of this research. No CIOB employee who might have any direct¹¹ line of authority (based on the hierarchic organizational structure) with the interviewer will be interviewed. It will therefore ensure the impartiality, transparency and neutrality of the gathered (and observed) information.

¹¹ By "direct" it is inferred a responsibility link between two employees when it comes to setting and review work performance

The selection process of the participants will be described in the next section of this paper. The Interview Guide (IG) (as seen in Annex H) provides a reliable, comparable qualitative data of the research topic. Combined to the Consent Form (see Annex I), it provides to each participant further information on the research goal, the purpose behind the interview, the intentions of the gathered results and the means by which the confidentiality of each participant is ensured.

The information sought in this project research could be intricate and multifactorial. Therefore the semi-structured interview would allow the participants to supply some direction with open questions. The interview will allow to inherently measuring specific dimensions through indicators. Among the dimensions to be measured are: current project delivery context, change¹², impacts of change, resistance to change vs. acceptance of change, impacts of resistance or acceptance to change, project leadership, impacts of project leadership, etc. Once the dimensions are set, *indicators* such as: organizational project climate and availability of resources, interviewee's perception of change, resistance factors and/or satisfaction factors to change, interviewee's perception of project leadership, project leadership criteria, project manager competencies, perception of project manager competencies, and other possible significant values to be explored when creating the interview template will be reflected in the interview questions.

The Interview Guide (IG) is comprised of these indicators. As indicated in the IG, to comply with the Université du Québec en Outaouais (from thereon referred to

¹² As previously mentioned in this paper, 'Change' here refers to the kind that is created in a workplace that impacts both an organization and how it manages its projects

'University' or 'the University') Research Committee Ethics, a Consent Form (Letter of Agreement) and Confidentiality Agreement (see Annex I for Consent and Confidentiality Form) must be signed before undergoing any interviews. These forms will be provided in advance to each participant few days or hours before the interview by email or paper format. The face-to-face format is favoured for the interviews and the phone interview will be an option in extreme circumstances, such as when the interviewee is unable to physically be present (e.g. substantive geographic distance between participant and interviewer). Recording the interviews will be essential in this project research to ensure a plus value in the legitimacy (authenticity) of the gathered information (responses). If the interviewee declines to be recorded, the interview will still be given but the gathered data might be as used as secondary information.

The purpose behind the interview will be to compare (and hopefully validate) the literature review findings and depict the cultural/structural context of federal

departments. The findings will also help in contextualizing a proposed project management implementation model to the reality of the IT Branch (CIOB) of EC. Hopefully this model will be useful for the delivery process of projects at EC.

5.5. Participants

As previously mentioned, sixteen participants, i.e. sixteen federal government employees (FTE's) from the CIOB of EC will be chosen to undergo a semi-structured interview based on the three research concepts previously defined in this paper. Different types of projects are undertaken in the IT branch. Even if most of these projects are IT/IM based (about 90%), other kinds of projects are delivered to improve different work processes in the Branch. As the focus of this case study is for an IT/IM organization, the interviewees' selection is taken from the Computer Systems (CS) work classification group. This group forms a bit more than 80% of the CIOB work force. The CIOB employees' distribution list based on their work classification has been annexed to this paper (Annex J). There are about 840 employees in the Branch (with a 2% margin of error since numbers have been manually compiled from each separate directorate org chart and summarized in Annex J). From the project management (PM) perspective, CS1's are usually computer related technology support employees. They form about 21% of the CS community and about 17% of the CIOB organization. CS2's are usually computer related technology experts. They form about 40% of the CS community and about 33% of the CIOB org. CS3's are usually team/project leads. They form about 25% of the CS community and about 20% of the CIOB org. CS4's are usually project managers. They form about 11% of the CS community and 9% of the CIOB org.

Finally, CS5's are usually executives or project executives. They form about 3% of the CS community and about 2.6% of the CIOB org. The selection of specific CS interviewees will primarily be done according to their level of experience in the process of project delivery and the expected higher impact that the change might have on these participants. The minimum number of years of projects experience required for an employee to be considered for an interview is five (5) years. In the federal system (especially established by the Human Resources) a minimum of five (5) years of experience at a same position or within a similar field is considered at senior level. For instance one can be a "Policy Advisor" but classified a "senior Policy Advisor" with a minimum of five (5) years of experience. For these preceding reasons, the CS1's are not being considered in this case study, nor for the interview and for the data (information) gathering exercise. To ensure all the CIOB directorates have been considered (in view of the distribution of CS's) and the expected higher impact of change on some of the CS's is reflected, the following numbers of CS participants have been chosen as sampling pool for the project management context of the CIOB:

- Three (4) CS5's (Three from SSOCIO and one from BASD);
- Seven (7) CS4's (one (1) from BASD, two (2) from IMD, one (1) from MPSD, one (1) from SSOCIO and two (2) from OPSD);
- Three (3) CS3's (three (3) from IMD); and
- Two (2) CS2's (one (1) from IMD and one (1) from OPSD).

 \Rightarrow Total = Sixteen (16) interviewees or participants.

The majority of the participants' selection pool is represented by the CS5-CS4 since a greater impact (off the changes) is anticipated at these levels for the project delivery work practice and work processes. For example, transparency of project accountability (sponsorship) is increasingly required by project executives (CS5) in the Branch. More thorough PM documentation, follow-ups and links with the project team members and the project executive(s) are necessary from project managers (CS4). These consequences have the purpose to create a more visible and effective project reporting at all levels (CS2 up the ladder to TBS) which should facilitate decision making in the process of project delivery.

The opted number of 16 participants is expected to be sufficient to reach data saturation and consequently provide a substantive amount of valuable information.

Throughout the course of this project research it is understood that proper and thorough ethical codes and conditions will be followed and respected. Hence, a Consent and Confidentiality Agreement Form (see Annex I) is used and presented to the University Ethical Committee where this research is undertaken). The Consent and Confidentiality Form comprises clear explanations of the purposes and foundations of this research. No interviews will be done without prior signing of the Form by the participant ensuring his or her confidentiality in any divulgation in the context of the case study research. Signed copies of the Consent Form from each participant are available and stored in the research director's possession.

5.6 Data Gathering and Analysis

At this stage of the project research, the gathered information has been mainly done through the means of consultation of references and eventually the information taken from the interviews will also be compiled. Once all the information/data is

41

gathered different analysis means will be used. A first technique will be direct data compilation and data interpretation from the researcher/observer via an iterative process of cleaning-grouping-summarizing the gathered data. As the iteration progresses so as the justification of the reasoning behind each of those iterations will be documented to reflect situations where observations are include or excluded from each summary. A second technique will be the use of a data process tool, i.e. computer software (e.g. Nvivo Data Analysis Software) to compile, manage the data and assist the researcher with the analysis of the gathered data. The findings from the interview will be compared and validated with the literature and/or traditionally accepted indicators in the PM domain. The gathered data/information will be fundamental in proposing a PM implementation model solution for the department of the CIOB of EC.

The concept of change and resistance to change will be studied, inquired, and compiled in the context of the EC-CIOB based on some of the categorization previously explained in this paper (i.e. *key stakes or objectives categories* for the concept of change and *stakeholders' acceptance categories* for the concept of resistance to change). Some of these essential changes are stemming from the TBS PM Policy, which raises the particularity of this research to the predicament of the Canadian federal government.

Project Leadership competencies (inspired from work done by Dulewicz and Higgs published in 2003), will be compared to the interviews collected information.

The overall gathered information will be compiled and analyzed with pre-established criteria (e.g. the situational context in which the defined leadership competence occurred, the relationship of the participant with the source of project leadership, the impact on change and resistance to change, etc.). As previously mentioned in this paper few authors such as Müller *et al.* (2010), Crawford *et al.* (2003), and Dulewicz *et al.*, (2005), "competence" in this research means a combination of skills (learning factors), personal characteristics (e.g. personality, traits), behaviour and knowledge (cognition). The compiled leadership competency findings will be mapped to the well validated Leadership Dimensions Questionnaire (LDQ) developed by Dulewicz and Higgs in 2003. Ultimately, the purpose will be to highlight project leadership

competencies that have the tendency to facilitate the introduction of change generated by projects and facilitate the reduction of resistance to that change in an organization (addressing Research Questions #1 and #2). These project leadership competencies will be significant in the creation of the proposed PM solution model. Examples of proposed solutions could be a new mandate for departmental project delivery, a modified or new change management approach, an updated definition of the roles and responsibilities for the actors, etc. By factoring in the introduction of change (via project change), the resistance of project stakeholders to this change and the contribution of project leadership practices in a change project, the research findings could be valuable in the creation of a possible future "comprehensive PM implementation management process" (Collerette *et al.*, 2006) for the EC-CIOB.

5.7 Reliability

In the course of this research, the researcher aims at ensuring the veracity of the

43

research methodology and the gathered information (data). As it is a qualitative research study the goal is to get the most reliable and valid findings (Gagnon, 2005). Internal reliability of the research findings is ensured by using concrete and precise descriptive terms, by protecting the raw data, using informants (research director and at least one employee of the CIOB) to confirm (validate) the gathered data and review the analysis of these data. The external reliability is also optimized by controlling the researcher's impartial position (influence or bias) on the results. External reliability is also ensured by describing the informant's selection, the identification of the characteristics of the case study environment, the study concepts, constructs and theorical framework, and the data gathering strategy.

5.8 Validation

A central issue in qualitative research is validity. Validity at this point pertains to reflecting both the internal and external validities of this work study. The internal validity is fundamental in a case study and constitutes its principle advantage (Gagnon, 2005). The internal validity is addressed by, controlling the effect of the presence of the observer (researcher) on the nature of the collected data (via for instance the interviewer's corroboration notes); by using a representative selection of participants and manage any potential change not to influence the data gathering procedure; and by "cleaning" any challenging information using confirming or contradicting information/data by means of comparison (e.g. triangulation, Ferlie *et al.*, 2004). The triangulation will be made between the gathered information/data taken from the semi-structured interview, literature review, and other studies (if

available). Other validity means will be used when needed. For example, the *interview sampling, respondent validation, peer debriefing, extended engagement of participants* (respondents), and *use of recording* will be considered. The external validity is addressed by, making sure of the applicability of the concluding constructs and results to other contexts (avoiding idiosyncratic positions and instead promoting possible parallels with other circumstances) (Gagnon, 2005); by observing a non-overexposed study environment (to avoid studies saturation applied to one site); and by tracking the history of the gathered information with its explanation.

To summarize, the data analysis will be presented according to what has been gathered through the search of the literature, other studies and findings from experts in the domain. The preceding will be combined to what has been gathered through the findings of this project research (e.g. interview, debriefing, etc.) and based on the three essential research concepts: Change, Resistance to Change and Project Leadership.

6. Presentation of Findings

6.1 Data Gathering by Semi-Structured Interviews

Sixteen (16) semi-structure interviews have been performed within the month of October 2011 to public servant employees of the Computer Science (CS) work classification from the CIOB of Environment Canada. As mentioned throughout this research, three concepts have been studied through the fourteen questions of each interview. These concepts are: Change, Resistance to Change, and Project Leadership and its Impact on Change. The findings from these interviews will be compared, analysed (including the use of the NVivo qualitative data analysis tool version 8) and mapped in reference to those concepts.

6.1.1 Selection of Participants

All the interviewees (also called "participants") have a long experience (minimum of five (5) years) in the domain of project delivery and project management (PM). Their level in the hierarchical organization varies from director to technical support employee. A summary of the interviewees' experience and expertise is reflected in Table 3.

Interviewees' Hierarchical Level and Years of Experience (GoC, PM, and both)

Hierarchical	GoC	Duciant		
Level		Project- PM	PM in the GoC	
CS05 (Director)	15-19	20-24	15-19	Strategic Planning
CS05 (Director)	25-29	20-24	20-24	Portfolio Management
CS05 (Director)	20-24	10-14	10-14	Quality Assurance, Deployment
CS05 (Director)	10-14	15-19	10-14	Enterprise Architecture, Innovation
CS04 (Manager)	10-14	10-14	5-9	Quality Assurance, Web Services
CS04 (Manager)	5-9	5-9	5-9	Business Analysis Services
CS04 (Manager)	15-19	15-19	10-14	IT Operations
CS04 (Manager)	20-24	15-19	15-19	Enterprise Architecture, Innovation
CS04 (Chief)	20-24	20-24	20-24	HPN, Data Acquisition and Distribution Services
CS04 (Manager)	15-19	10-14	10-14	Data Center Operations
CS04 (Manager)	30+	5-9	5-9	Business Development Application Services
CS03 (Business Analyst)	10-14	5-9	5-9	Information Management
CS03 (Team Leader)	10-14	5-9	1-4	Information Management
CS03 (Project Leader)	15-19	10-14	10-14	Project Leader
CS02 (Tech Support Analyst)	15-19	5-9	5-9	IT Operations
CS02 (IM Analyst)	10-14	5-9	5-9	Information Management
	(Director)CS05(Director)CS05(Director)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS04(Manager)CS03(BusinessAnalyst)CS03(Project Leader)CS02(Tech SupportAnalyst)CS02	(Director) $15-19$ CS05 $25-29$ (Director) $20-24$ CS05 $10-14$ (Director) $10-14$ (Director) $10-14$ CS04 $5-9$ (Manager) $5-9$ (Manager) $20-24$ (Manager) $30+$ (S04 $30+$ (S03 $10-14$ Analyst) $10-14$ CS03 $10-14$ (Team Leader) $15-19$ (Tech Support Analyst) $15-19$	(Director) $15-19$ $20-24$ CS05 (Director) $25-29$ $20-24$ CS05 (Director) $20-24$ $10-14$ CS05 (Director) $10-14$ $15-19$ (Director) $10-14$ $10-14$ CS04 (Manager) $5-9$ $5-9$ (Manager) $20-24$ $15-19$ CS04 (Manager) $20-24$ $15-19$ CS04 (Manager) $20-24$ $15-19$ CS04 (Manager) $20-24$ $20-24$ CS04 (Manager) $20-24$ $20-24$ CS04 (Manager) $20-24$ $20-24$ CS04 (Manager) $30+$ $5-9$ CS04 (Manager) $30+$ $5-9$ CS03 (Business $10-14$ $5-9$ CS03 (Team Leader) $15-19$ $10-14$ CS02 (Tech Support Analyst) $15-19$ $10-14$	(Director) $15-19$ $20-24$ $15-19$ CS05 (Director) $25-29$ $20-24$ $20-24$ CS05 (Director) $20-24$ $10-14$ $10-14$ CS05 (Director) $10-14$ $15-19$ $10-14$ CS04 (Manager) $10-14$ $10-14$ $5-9$ CS04 (Manager) $5-9$ $5-9$ $5-9$ CS04 (Manager) $15-19$ $15-19$ $10-14$ CS04 (Manager) $20-24$ $15-19$ $10-14$ CS04 (Chief) $20-24$ $20-24$ $20-24$ CS04 (Chief) $20-24$ $20-24$ $20-24$ CS04 (Manager) $15-19$ $10-14$ $10-14$ CS04 (Manager) $30+$ $5-9$ $5-9$ CS03 (Manager) $10-14$ $5-9$ $5-9$ CS03 (Business $10-14$ $5-9$ $5-9$ CS03 (Team Leader) $15-19$ $10-14$ $10-14$ CS02 (Tech Support Analyst) $15-19$ $5-9$ $5-9$

Note. The above Interviewees' Summary has been sorted by 'Hierarchical Level' and not necessarily in the order in which the interviews have been given

It can be seen in the previous table that the level of experience in the domain is considerable. On average, the interviewees' years of work experience in the Government of Canada (GoC) is between 15-19 years. Also on average, the interviewees' years of work experience in the domain of projects and PM is within the range of 10-14 years. Finally, the interviewees' average number of years of work experience in the domain of projects and PM in the GoC is also in the range of 10-14 years. This experience guarantees that their overall knowledge of the general practice of PM and more specifically their understanding of the context and reality of the federal government when it pertains to managing projects is relevant and credible. They have a clear understanding (or at least opinions) of the differences between practicing PM in the public service compared to the private sector.

6.2 Change

The questions on the concept of Change were used to set the context for the two research questions. As a reminder, the first "Context Research Question" (CQ1) is: "What is the nature of the required change resulting from the implementation of the new TBS PM process?".

6.2.1 Approach to Project Management

The first question of the interview questionnaire was about the participants' approach to PM. Using NVivo, data analyses were made on the basis of the most frequently used key words or key terms ("key" in the sense of meaningful to identify themes or concepts). These queries also included "wildcards", i.e. any possible characters at the end of these key words (e.g. "structure*, which would include "structures" and "structured", etc.). It was obvious that all participants at all responsibility levels recognized the value and importance of project management. According to them, a structured approach is necessary to manage projects to at least

ensure a measurable business value and a return on investment for the project. It was expected that the PRINCE2[®] PM methodology would have an impact on the participants' approach in dealing with projects in CIOB in view of its PM organizational governance. Often, the mention of PMBOK referred to the participants' former PM approach with projects or the fact that they still use parts of it within a PRINCE2[®] approach. The analysis showed that *eleven (11) participants (69%)* used the term 'PRINCE2[®], in their answer (besides the obvious terms such as "project" "approach" and "management). *Among these eleven (11), five (5) participants (31%)* used the term 'PMBOK'. *Eight (8) (50%)* used either one of the terms "clear" or "structure*"in their answer. *Fifty percent (50%) of the participants* did not really care about how the approach is labelled, as long as there is a certain structure or a minimum of process in dealing with projects. One director summed it up from his perspective: "I am way more focussed on people management and results", raising the importance to track the success criteria from the onset, regardless the PM methodology (framework) used. It should be noted that *fourteen (14)*

49

participants (88%) used either one of the terms "people, stakeholder*, team*, member*, staff, employee*) in their answer. The study uses these terms to evaluate the human resources (HR) factor in projects (or PM). The participants' response illustrates that the HR aspect needs to be taken into consideration (even at pre-project stage) when tackling PM.

6.2.2 Federal Government Change in Project Management

The second, third and fourth questions were linked to the change in the federal government regarding PM. This change, introduced by Treasury Board Secretariat

(TBS), is mainly governed by its recent PM policy (to be officially enforced to all Departments in 2012). The purpose was to evaluate the interviewees' impression of this change, how it impacted them, and what, according to them, would be required to face the necessary changes. Each interviewee understood the goal and purposes behind the policy in addressing, for instance, the reality of failed IT projects (TBS, 2009) in the federal government and providing standardized expectations on what to report on projects. *Ninety-six percent (96%)* thought it was a positive requirement since it didn't require major changes for an organization already using the PRINCE2[®] methodology. However, one common issue raised was on how the PM methodology and its practice were implemented in the branch and in general introduced to EC. The use of PRINCE2[®] was often perceived a 'filling PM template documents' exercise instead of being a tool that can be tailored to each project.

One manager summed up the recent reality of IT when it pertains to PM and how the TBS PM policy impacted the IT employees in the GoC:

IT department shops across the government are forced to become more attentive to how they run projects, how they express business value, [how they] do cost analysis and business cases, and to express it in such a way that it's clear to management of the IT side and it can actually be explained in such a way that the business side can understand it.

How the change impacted (positively, negatively or neutrally) the participants' daily work has been summarized and classified according to their hierarchical level in the following table:

Ta	ab	le	4
----	----	----	---

Impact of the Change on the Interviewees' Daily Work

•	Hierarchical Level				Observation(s)
Impact (change) on Participant's daily work	CS02	CS03	CS04	CS05	
Positive Impact:	2	2	2	1	Mainly because of the need to be more structured and transparent in the management of projects and in its accountability
Negative Impact:	0	0	0	0	No participants perceived the change (PM policy and use of a more formal PM approach) as having a direct negative impact on their daily work
Neutral or no impact:	0	1	5	3	Most of these answers included a clarification of indirect changes (impacts) on the overall work process in CIOB

Fifty percent (50%) of the interviewees' perceived the arrival of the TBS PM policy and consequently the use of a more formal PM methodology in PRINCE2® was positively changing their daily work. The remaining fifty percent (50%) (where half of that percentage comes from the manager and director levels) did not perceive any major change to their daily work. This was mostly due to the fact that the use of an official (mandatory) PM methodology in CIOB did not put the focus on the Policy

per se.

However, even considering their generally positive evaluation of the impact of the change these participants did admit that, to face the change resulting from the Policy, having only a formal PM methodology in the organization, is insufficient. Planning and handling projects on the basis of a set approach (methodology) becomes a bureaucracy or administrative exercise if no resources and time are allocated to manage and apply the approach to projects. This change also has to be considered from a more holistic perspective. At some point, projects have to generate business value, and return on investment to the Department as a whole. As it will be seen later, it is also crucial to be transparent about it (documenting via a business case, project

mandate, or tracking project deliverables). To be able to do the preceding, there is a need to work on the HR aspect and the related work processes before being able to formalize (throughout an organization such as CIOB) a PM methodology (or framework) and to applying it. As mentioned by one of the interviewees "culture change is the hardest thing to achieve". Consequently, to face this specific change, it calls for the inclusion of the impacted people (as well as clients) in the change management process by at least establishing:

- A comprehensive PM training program (from CIOB)
 - E.g. providing advanced competency based programs, including well trained, knowledgeable people management skills not just technical
- A robust PM support/guidance mechanism (from TBS or CIOB)
- A structured and enforced communication mechanism (from TBS and CIOB), including messages on communicating the reasons and benefits (the whys) behind the change and not only the how to go about the change
- An avenue for employees to be able to provide feedback and find information about the change (from TBS and especially CIOB), leaving room for a possible Continuous Improvement function to track and monitor the progression and the success of the change (at CIOB)

 A clear upper management support, including an overall incremental (stepwise) approach.

Participants often mentioned the existence of the former Project Delivery Office (PDO) in CIOB which was seen unanimously as important to face the change. At the time, the lack or resources in the PDO was an issue to respond to the demand, but now, according to the participants, it is more so because the PDO has been dismantled. A bit of PM guidance and support was perceived to be better than nothing.

6.2.3 Links with Literature

As raised in the Research Constructs section of this paper, to have a chance to successfully implement change, especially in a public service organization such as EC-CIOB, three things ought to be considered: 1) the nature of the change affecting EC-CIOB (e.g. occasional, continual (progressive) or both, 2) to adopt a stepwise approach to change, and 3) to subdivide the change into specific critical objectives. These steps should increase the main stakeholders' understanding, and the legitimacy of the change to be undertaken. The preceding supports the abovedescribed findings from the interviews on the change in CIOB. The proposed 'CIOB Change Management Process', which should include the impacted stakeholders (as well as the clients), touches all three listed items to be considered for successfully implementing change. Another suggestion to be considered within this change management process would be to breakdown the analytical change management framework by key objectives (stakes) categories as seen in Table 2 of this paper. The use of an existing change model, e.g. Lewin, Ulrich or Kotter (Gilley et al., 2009) could be considered for EC-CIOB or, the creation of a 'personified' model that can stem from EC-CIOB employees and piloted by them might also be interesting.

6.3 Resistance to Change

The questions on the concept of Resistance to Change were also used to set the context for the two research questions. As a reminder, the second "Context Research Question" (CQ2) is: "What are the potential resistance mechanisms against that change?".

As for the first concept, the answers to the six interview questions linked to this second CQ2 have been compiled, classified, and analysed into the NVivo software.

6.3.1 Availability of Resources and the Organization's Support

The first two questions for this concept were directed to the interviewees' perception of available resources and their expectation in terms of support from the organization to face the changes (TBS policy, use of a more formal PM methodology, etc.). When it came to analysing the responses regarding the interviewees' access to the required resources in dealing with the changes, if the answer came with a "yes but" format the researcher considered the answer as "no". Consequently, at *eighty-eight percent (88%)* the interviewees did not feel they had the resources to face the changes. The remaining *twelve percent (12%)* who felt they did have access, brought up the point that the challenge or question was rather about the willingness to actually use these resources. That is where the resistance came.

It has unanimously been mentioned (100% of the interviewees) that regardless of the kind of resources they would have access to, without a true "commitment" (support) from at least one Senior Manager (minimum at director level but ultimately better at ADM level) they could do their best to face the changes but the chance of a successful outcome is good as nil. Without that particular level of governance, the function of sponsorship (and the corresponding funding that usually comes with this support) to provide the platform to link with other directorates and EC strategic stakeholders will not be possible.

An interviewee at director level, provided an observation that encompasses an aspect raised by all interviewees' for these two questions: "Resistance to change is all about how you communicate, who you communicate to, how often and what the message is". *Slightly less than half of the interviewees (44%)* felt that the **implementation strategy of the change** introduced by the use of the PRINCE2[®] methodology was either not well planned or not done appropriately. Even if IM/IT projects are managed by CIOB employees, most of these projects are for clients outside CIOB. Part of the strategy lacked by not including the clients (mainly at lower management levels) in the implementation process of using PRINCE2[®] in the

management of CIOB projects. To somewhat mitigate that issue, project managers had to add branches to their skills tree. They had to become salespersons, ambassadors and/or educators to clients about the new PM approach. This was a challenge. Not only available project managers in CIOB do not necessarily have the additional required PM or soft competencies to take on these tasks but also, clients usually do not care much about the methodology but redirect their focus on getting things done. They are rather results oriented. Another often-mentioned example was the fact that even if this PM methodology is flexible and can be tailored in its application, that fact was not well understood by a group of employees and most stakeholders (of that change). Table 5 summarizes what participants considered was missing or would be a source of support from the organization:

Table 513

Source of Organization Support to Face the Changes

Lacking from / Expected from the Organization to face Changes	Frequency	
Change Management - Implementation Approach (ensure consistency & governance)	Thirteen interviewees	(81%)
Resources (finance, time and HR) Commitment	Eleven interviewees	(69%)
Project Delivery (Management) Office (PDO/PMO)	Nine interviewees	(56%)
Training	Eight interviewees	(50%)
Collaboration with Client	Eight interviewees	(50%)
Project Management Expertise (for guidance, mentorship purposes)	Eight interviewees	(50%)
Communication – Communication Strategy / Plan	Seven interviewees	(44%)
Set clear roles and responsibilities of the change enablers	Seven interviewees	(44%)

6.3.2 Impacts on the Participant's Professional Future Plans

Answers to the third question show that *fifty-six percent (56%) of the participants* did not feel the change would affect their future plans. It rather represented PM formalization, via documentation, of something they were already doing. Most of these interviewees will keep the focus on making a difference at work (using common sense) regardless of the process since usually the objectives remain the same. They did not see it as a major change; more as part of an unofficial "continual improvement" natural work process. It is basically a different name and related terminology of doing similar things in the PM domain. Having a methodology is better than having none at all. A positive outcome was, at the time, a more concrete recognition of PM and of the role of the project manager.

Forty-four percent (44%) of the participants did feel that the change would affect their future plans. It was nonetheless mostly a positive impact as it allowed a better organization of projects and its management. There was a noticeable change in how

¹³ Table generated with the combination of reading the response for II.1-II.2 and using the NVivo text (word) query

people tracked and documented their projects and formalized a bit more the project approval process. There is however a downside. Certain work functions are currently being questioned and evaluated for their usefulness in the IM/IT domain, as the goal is to do more with less resources (human and finance). Especially in the current transition period in the GoC because of the creation of this new Agency "Shared Services Canada", few work functions might be removed and impact the delivery of projects. An increasing amount of changes within a short timeframe is and will change the future plans of some of the participants.

6.3.3 Impacts on the relationships between employees

The fourth question for this concept assessed the impact of the change in the relationships (interactions) between employees affected by the change. *Sixty-nine (69%) of the interviewees* felt the change will affect relationships at some point. Depending where the employees are located (EC has lots of regional offices throughout Canada) or in which section they are working, the interactions will be

different.

A positive relationship outcome was the use of a common PM terminology, which facilitated discussions, collaborations, and information sharing around projects. For projects, this change required more transparent communications and collaborations between colleagues of different CIOB directorates and between CIOB employees and clients. Among the goals of this change, one is to reduce the 'silo mentality' and facilitate the indispensable matrix interactions when planning-delivering projects. On the more challenging side, it increased the workload and the number of interactions between colleagues. That was mainly due to the formalization of PM documentation (mainly for reporting and QA purposes).

Thirty-one percent (31%) of the interviewees did not feel the change will impact relationships between colleagues. Their perspective was that the Policy itself would not affect the relationships on the hierarchical level since it is a guideline for all federal departments. It is rather the implementation of this Policy within each contextual reality that will affect the reactions and therefore the interactions between the employees. More specifically, how Senior Management from each Department will decide to take on the Policy guidelines. Support reflected on paper instead of in practice can increase the challenge for lower levels of managements in implementing that change. On the other hand, if a group had already a good work structure, the change (regardless of its level of support) will not necessarily affect the relationships (interactions) between members of that group; but it might affect the interactions between them and less work-structured colleagues.

6.3.4 Expected Resistance and its Related Decreasing/Increasing Factors

The two last questions for this concept pertained to the kinds of resistance (if any)

59

the participants were expecting from employees and what would potentially increase or decrease this resistance. All participants expect resistance whenever there is change. As one interviewee stated: "There is always resistance to change because a change impacts the way a person views the world, the way that person interacts with the world". The types of resistance the participants raised were essentially behavioural. Their answers reflected initial criteria that would influence the employees' types of resistance. The employees' personality, their motivation, the nature of the business they work in, their hierarchical level (work classification), and even their age group. These criteria were often identified by the interviewees as a "type of employee" when faced with change, i.e. 1- The ones who embrace change (early adopters), 2- The ones who eventually go for the change (middle adopters), 3-The ones who are rather indifferent, on the sideline (lurkers), and 4- The ones who will never embrace it (despise change). One particular point has been raised by 75% of the participants is the fact that, among the main source of the possible resistance, is the perception of the increase workload required to be part of the PM change in CIOB. For instance, the amount of PM documentation to be filled "on top" of managing or directing a project is seen as an additional burden. To better appreciate for which context the participants have mentioned the most recurring kinds of resistance, they will be presented on the basis of hierarchical level categories (Table 6). As for table 7, it summarizes the factors increasing and decreasing resistance as seen by the participants. Again, the "word frequency" function of the NVivo tool combined with the researcher's analysis of each answer have been used to create these tables.

60



Kind of Resistance Identified by Interviewees

Hierarchical Level	Types of Resistance			
Management & Senior Management	 Not participative / See it as threat because of inherent increase of the required responsibilities (workload) (2)¹⁴ 			
Senior Management	 Unwilling to provide HR for projects or reduce their influence if authority (accountability status) 			
	- Do not assign proper people to address the change			
	- Unwilling to provide time for employees' learning curve			
Employees (Staff)	- Opposition / Stubbornness / Argumentation / Frustration /			
	Objection / Challenge authority (10)			
	- Procrastinating / Stalling work /Focussing on other stuff / Decrease			
	in their work due diligence (5)			
	- Not participative - Not involved/ See it as a threat because of			
	inherent increase of the required responsibilities (workload) (4)			
	 Passive aggressiveness (e.g. do not volunteer as project manager - continue their usual daily work) (2) 			
	 Sabotage / Make themselves unavailable (e.g. negative advice to high management or being a problem to a project) (2) 			
	- Contradiction / Interpretation (2)			
	- Manifestation / Complain (to demonstrate the resistance) (2)			
	- Say one thing do another (2)			
Clients	- Object new or external procedures			
	- Push backs - Do not understand the use of PM policy			

Table 7

Decreasing and Increasing Resistance Factors According to Interviewees

Decrease Resistance	Increase Resistance
Clean communication Communication strategy	

- Clear communication-Communication strategy			
(including to present clear intentions/vision and set des	ired		
outcomes (High management)	(12)	The opposite	(8)
- To offer HR, time allocation, proper funding and t	tools		
to face the change	(5)	The opposite	(6)
- People see themselves in the solution, work status			
"what's in it for them" (Build sense of ownership)	(9)	The opposite	(5)
- Change implementation strategy / Good planning			
including change management techniques	(5)	The opposite	(2)
- Clear engagement from high management / Clear			
leadership from proper people / Lead by example	(3)	The opposite	(4)
 Organized training adapted to audience / work 	(4)	The opposite	(3)
- To show how the change will make more efficient wo	ork		
processes / the value-added	(3)	The opposite	(2)
- Use people management approach including work			
psychology (organization psychology) techniques/			
Empathetic to employees' context and reality	(3)	The opposite	
- Lead by good behavior and examples	(2)	The opposite	
- To make the change incremental (build the habits)	(2)	The opposite	(2)
- To have a good level of PM team competency / Deve	lop a		
solid PM foundation through schooling		The opposite	(2)
	******	- Not good pas	st experiences with change
		- Imposing the	change

¹⁴ In bracket, the number of interviewees who mentioned these types of resistance

The *four participants (25%)* who mentioned that some of resistance would come from management or senior management, observed a high level of resistance from that particular group. The participants who identified that resistance would come from the employees (staff), observed (and expected) a medium to high level of resistance. The *two participants (13%)* who mentioned that resistance would come from the clients observed a low to medium level of resistance.

Based on the participants' feedbacks two main conclusions can be made to summarize their general impression on the resistance of the change:

- The more you communicate about the change, the more it will increase knowledge and decrease worries. The outcome is ultimately a decrease of the resistance.
- The less you communicate about the change, the more it will decrease knowledge and increase worries. The outcome is ultimately an increase of the resistance.

62

According to the participants, **communication is highly important** when it pertains to resistance to change. Without communication, there is no means to exchange information, objectives, goals, implementation approach and status updates of the change **to and from** any stakeholders of that change. These stakeholders include the directly impacted people, such as the employees that will implement the change, and the indirectly impacted people, such as the clients that will receive some of the products (deliverables) of that change. An example of a product of the change would be how a project is delivered to a client.

6.3.5 Links with Literature

As previously mentioned, all interviewees expected resistance whenever there is change. The kinds of resistance they depicted based on the types of employees are directly in-line with the idea presented in the article by Gilley, A. Godek, and Gilley, J.W. (2009) titled *Change, Resistance, and the Organizational Immune System.* The only main difference was the additional 'Innovators' category described in the article. Because of its intricate and rigid bureaucracy, in the case of a federal department (or a branch such as CIOB), the opportunities to initiate a change before any prior indications or warning (e.g. studies, audit, TB decision or policy, etc.) that a change is eventually in the works in the government are rare. So the occasions for the 'Innovators' to have an impact on the overall resistance level to a change has not been mentioned by the interviewees.

When taking into consideration the participant's answers to both the concepts of

Change and Resistance of Change, the points to keep in mind when studying factors to reduce resistance to change as defined by Jacob, *et al.*, (2008), have been covered by the participants. As a reminder, Jacob *et al.*'s key points are described in section 4.2 of this research paper.

6.4 Project Leadership and its Impact on Change

The final four interview questions on the concept of Project Leadership and its Impact on Change were set to address the two Research Questions (RQ1-RQ2). RQ1 and RQ2 are respectively:

- "What is the influence of the project leader on the two previous questions (CQ1 and CQ2)" and
- "What actions / behaviours / attitudes of the leader can potentially facilitate the change?"

6.4.1 The Role of the Project Leader and its Competencies related to Change

The first, third and fourth questions of this concept explored the participants' perception of the role of the "Project Leader (PL)" and the consequences of its competencies (i.e. actions, behaviours, or attitudes) in the context of the change¹⁵. Data analyses were made on the basis of the most frequent key words or key terms ("key" in the sense of meaningful, useful to identify themes or concepts) used by the participants for this question. These queries also included "wildcards" as explained before in this paper.

The expression "Project Leader" brought some interesting challenging viewpoints and was a good source of discussion. There were clearly different views based on experience (work background), perception and subjective understanding of the questions behind the concept of project leadership. The participants' standpoints on "What is a Project Leader", the role it has, were not all congruent.

¹⁵ Meaning the change as reflected in the interviewees' answers previously presented in the section of the "Change" concept

Table 8 is a recap of the participants' answers of the role levels of the project leader (PL) within a project organization structure.
	Answers	-	pant's Hie vel	erarchical	Observation(s)
Role Levels of the PL (in a project)	CS02	CS03	CS04	CS05	
PL = Project Manager	N/A	1	1	2	25% of the interviewees believed the PL should or is the project manager (2 out of the 4 directors)
PL = Team Lead (not Pmgr)	1	1	N/A	1 .	19% of the interviewees believed the PL is at the team lead level (i.e. implementation level) not the project manager
PL = Project Executive	N/A	N/A	1	N/A	One manager was more categorical in the perspective that the project executive is the PL
PL = Any Project Team Member (Level does not matter)	1	1	2	1	25% of the interviewees did not think the project role level mattered as long as the PL had the essential required skills (mainly people skills) and applied them appropriately at right time
PL = Few Levels at Once (depends on project)	N/A	N/A	3	N/A	19% of the interviewees highlighted the fact that there were different levels of leadership within a project. Depending on the project, at minimum, the project manager and the project executive both could be leading the change. PMgr on the

Table 8

Role Levels of the Project Leader According to Interviewees

From the preceding table the participants are demonstrating that: 1- There is room for further discussions about the role of the PL, 2- PLs can be found at all hierarchical levels and will be responsible to deliver a product (or solution) and managing a team, but he/she might not necessarily be a project manager, 3- PL is a social role, i.e. it requires people and people management skills. One of the managers provided further explanation on the term "Leader" inferred from the notion of PL:

ground and the PExec at higher level

[There is a] Distinct difference about the term "Leader". The LEADER is not the same as someone having a leading role. For me, the Leader is someone I will follow the instructions or follow him because he has a vision to get somewhere. I don't personally believe that the project manager always has to be the person with the vision, he doesn't have to articulate the vision but he carries out the implementation of the vision. Many managers are not leaders

Even in view of the context in which the participants set the PL role there was a definite consistency in their perception of **what the project leader would bring** (hence project leadership) within the circumstance of a project; regardless of the PL role and hierarchical level. *Consequently, for the purpose of this study and the analysis of its findings, there will be no distinction between the role of the project leader and the project manager.*

There was also a coherent perspective from the participants when it pertained to the kind of competencies they were expecting from a PL to either facilitate or mitigate change. All their answers were first compiled then analysed for most frequently mentioned competencies, grouped as categories at times, using the key words queries and frequency functions of NVivo for the third (3rd) and fourth (4th)

interview questions of the 'Project Leadership and its Impact on Change' concept. Terms such as "(people, human*, soft*, social*, empath*, motivat*, flexibl*, collaborat*, contact*, adaptab*, influenc*, parent*), communicat*, (commit*, positive*, support*, availabl*, present*, visibl*), (expert*, knowledg*, coach*, advi*), (organiz*, approach*, method*), have been queried.

Eighty-one (81%) of the participants mentioned PL's leadership competencies (including an important number of people management related soft skills), *sixty-nine percent (69%)* raised PL's good communication competencies, *sixty-three percent (63%)* good leadership competencies and *fifty-six percent (56%)* pointed

positive involvement (commitment) from PLs could facilitate the change. All the major PL competency groupings brought up by the interviewees have been compiled in Table 9. *Eighty-one (81%) of the participants* answered the opposite from the facilitating competencies when it came to PL competencies that could adversely effect the change. Those results are also reflected in Table 9 by the mention of "The opposite" in the 'PL Competencies Adversely Effect the Change' column with additional clarification if necessary.

Table 9

Project Leader Competencies Facilitating and Adversely Effecting the Change (according to Interviewees)

PL Competencies Facilitating the Change	PL Competencies Adversely Effect the Change
Leadership competencies including an	The opposite (13) (including the mention of "too
important number of human/people/social	introverted")
management related soft skills (i.e. skills	
required to create cohesion and trust with team	
members/ stakeholders while making decisions o	1
time to align with project end-goal. Inspire by	
example) (1	
Good and clear communicator (1	1) The opposite (12)
Positively involved (committed) in leading the	The opposite (11)
change (9)
**Structured (well organized) but yet flexible	= The opposite (10) (including the mention of "dogmatic
open-minded) in applying phased approach to	approach)
introduce the change. This includes defining clear	
roles and responsibilities (2	
Expert and knowledgeable (related to PM,	
process, organizational, strategy, etc.) to be able t	The opposite (7) (including mention of "too
contextualize the change (6	

6.4.2 Impact of the Project Leader

Finally, a question was asked to discover the interviewees' views of the impact of

the project leader (PL) in the context of the change (meaning the change as reflected in the interviewees' answers previously presented in the section of the "Change" concept). Sixty-nine percent (69%) of the interviewees considered the PL as having an important impact on how change is implemented, therefore a direct impact on its successful implementation. The preceding has been evaluated by using the key words queries and frequency functions of NVivo for the first two interview questions of the 'Project Leadership and its Impact on Change' concept. Based on the answers tendency (through the researcher analysis), key terms of a similar category such as "important*, huge, major*, tremendous*, big*, positive*, facilitate*" have been queried. The PL is a change enabler; it is an essential factor that will make or break the change. The PL with its people management, human soft skills will favour the

more 'matrix' work approach necessary to manage projects that involve few stakeholders from different programs (interests).

A statement summarizing all the answers could be as follows:

An experienced project leader with a positive attitude (who believes in and <u>understands</u> the change) will typically create positive reactions from team members /stakeholders) thereby reducing resistance.

Fifty percent (50%) of the interviewees, the ones who believed that the PL could be at any level not necessarily at the project manager level, added an interesting point. Regardless how good a PL is and how effective that PL is in using the essential skills set, in the absence of a clear or obvious Senior Management support for a project, the PL impact is as good as vain. We can once again appreciate the importance of the upper management support when it comes to change and moving it forward as projects. This fact is not surprising according to one of the interviewees, as it is part

of the governmental culture (and structure) to be extremely hierarchical. Therefore, without the appropriate hierarchical support for a task that is outside the work routine, skills and good intentions might be an incomplete formula for a successful outcome.

6.4.3 Links with Literature

When Dulewicz and Higgs developed their well-known (in the PM field) assessment tool *Leadership Development Questionnaire (LDQ)* in 2003, they did an extensive review of all sorts of leadership references including assessment tools. That

research study allowed them to highlight and use fifteen (15) leadership dimensions to identify three (3) leadership profiles for organizational change projects. These leadership dimensions and profiles (Table 10) highlight the links with the findings from the interviewees. The brief descriptions of these leadership dimensions can be found in Annex G. These dimensions and leadership profiles will now be compared to the findings from the interview around the concept of project leadership. The objective is to link/map the most important PL competencies raised by the interviewees with the ones listed by Dulewicz and Higgs (D&H) to be able to identify a prominent leadership style that could potentially alleviate the resistance to change.

As previously presented in Table 9, the interviewees highlighted five main 'grouped' (dimensions) PL competencies that can be compared to D&H's identified leadership dimensions. To do so, the researcher looked into each of these fifteen (15) leadership dimensions and graded their level of relevance or importance (low, medium or high), according to the interviewees. The results have been emphasized or

added (in black bold) to the D&H tool.

Si No Si Si It

Table 10

The Project Leadership Competencies Identified by the Interviewees Mapped to the Leadership Competencies and Leadership Styles of Dulewicz and Higgs' Tool

Group	Competency	Goal	Involving ¹⁷	Engaging ¹⁸
		Oriented ¹⁶	(L/M/H)	(L/M/H)
e ^{lle}		(L/M/H)		
Intellectual	1. Critical analysis &	High	Medium	Medium
(IQ)	judgment		(Low)	(Low)
	2. Vision and imagination	High	High	Medium
	3. Strategic perspective	High	Medium	Medium
Managerial (MQ)	4. Engaging communication	Medium	Medium	High
	5. Managing resources	High	Medium	Low
	6. Empowering	Low	Medium	High
	7. Developing	Medium	Medium	High
	8. Achieving	High	Medium	Medium
Emotional (EQ)	9. Self-awareness	Medium	High	High
	10. Emotional resilience	High	High	High
	11. Motivation	High	High	High
	12. Interpersonal sensitivity	Medium	Medium	High
	13. Influencing	Medium	High	High
	14. Intuitiveness	Medium	Medium	High
	15. Conscientiousness	High	High	High

When we compile the results from the comparison exercise we see that there are

four (4) highlighted leadership dimensions under the 'Goal Oriented' leadership style: one (1) Medium and three (3) Highs. There are ten (10) highlighted leadership dimensions under the 'Involving' leadership style: one (1) Low, four (4) Mediums, and five (5) Highs. Finally for the 'Engaging' leadership style there are thirteen (13) highlighted dimensions: one (1) Low, three (3) Mediums, and nine (9) Highs. In view of the number of emphasized leadership dimensions under the 'Engaging' leadership style and the number of 'High' grades, this is the leadership style with its related graded leadership dimensions that is chosen to reduce the resistance to change.

16, 9, 10 : Leadership Styles

As to the corresponding factors that would reduce the resistance to change, focus should be on the thirteen (13) highlighted leadership dimensions under the 'Engaging' leadership style with consideration of their graded level of importance (or relevance):

- <u>Mandatory Factors</u> (9): Engaging communication, Empowering, Self-Awareness, Emotional Resilience, Motivation, Interpersonal Sensitivity, Influencing, Intuitiveness
- <u>Significant Factors</u> (3): Vision and imagination, Strategic Perspective,
 Conscientiousness, Achieving
- Less Significant Factor (1): Critical analysis & judgment

With these results, the interviewees are stressing the importance of the *project leadership competencies related to emotions* (equivalent to D&H's defined 'Emotional Competencies' grouping). The *project leadership competencies related to management skills* (equivalent to D&H's 'Managerial Competencies' grouping) are

clearly valuable whereas the *project leadership competencies related to analysis and judgment* (part of D&H's 'Intellectual Competencies' grouping) seem to be more 'nice to have' competencies that would help a project leader to reduce the resistance to change.

6.5 Conceptualization of the Findings

When addressing the research problem, the objective is to propose factors to be considered by project managers in the context of the IT Branch of EC that would reduce the level of resistance to change created by IT/IM based projects. The research found that the project leadership role is not automatically linked to the role of the project manager. There is definitely room for more in-depth explorations on this matter in future research studies in the context of the Canadian government.

Table 11 summarizes the findings of this case study research. They are listed according to their importance and relevancy following the participants' answers. Subsequently, a conceptual model which considers the top listed findings (top eight), is developed as a suggested solution tool for implementing a change (generated by a project) while reducing the resistance level.

Table 11

Summary of the Case Study Research Key Findings

j.	Summary of Findings
•	Upper management support (at least from CIOB) should be visible and active
•	Open communication is highly important
•	For EC-CIOB the Engaging Leadership style would be the preferable leadership style in reducing the resistance level to the PM methodology change
•	The implementation of a PM Support/guidance mechanism such as a PMO (Project Management Office) is also perceived as very helpful
•	The development of a PM social skills (competencies) training program is central to lowering resistance to change (to develop an expertise pool of project managers). Those skills include the project leadership competencies that are related to emotions.
•	The use of an overall incremental (stepwise) approach in dealing and implementing the change is perceived as very helpful
•	To face such a change it calls for the inclusion of the impacted people (which comprises clients) in the change management process
•	Feedback from the impacted people should be part of a Continuous Improvement
	function to track, monitor the progress and success of the change
•	For EC-CIOB the mandatory PL competencies to reduce the resistance to change are (9): Engaging communication, Empowering, Self-Awareness, Emotional Resilience, Motivation, Interpersonal Sensitivity, Influencing, Intuitiveness
•	A positive experienced project leader (PL) who understands the change is

- influential on how change is implemented. The PL reduces resistance and therefore has a direct impact on the successful implementation of the change
- Participants (interviewees) thought that having a more formalized PM approach

- structure **was useful and important** (as it brought governance and structure in the work process) (especially at manager and lower levels)
- The project leadership competencies related to management skills are significant in helping a project leader in reducing resistance to change
- For EC-CIOB the significant PL competencies are (3): Vision and imagination, Strategic Perspective, Conscientiousness, Achieving
- A PM methodology in the organization on its own, is not sufficient
- Departments should have a transparent strategy to implement the PM methodology change
- The project leadership competencies related to Analysis and Judgment would be more 'nice to have' in helping a project leader in reducing the change
- For EC-CIOB the less significant PL competency is (1): Critical analysis & judgment

Inspired by the gathered data and the references consulted on the three concepts of this research, here is the proposed conceptual model:

Figure 1

Incremental PM Methodology Change Implementation Model



The proposed conceptual model starts at the centre with the red highlighted trigger which is the change itself. In the case of EC-CIOB the change is the implementation of the PM structured approach. From the trigger starts the stepwise (phased) approach of the implementation (including the strategic considerations, planning the change, managing, directing and its implementation). Each concentric circle (1-4) represents an implementation phase. The number of circles is at the discretion of the change implementation team. The four arrows stemming out from the trigger point **delimit** the **four main continual activities** (and/or growing activities) that ought to consistently be part of the overall change implementation process at EC-CIOB. These activities form concentric quadrants of the model. Each arrow has opposite ends to reflect the continual and incremental **way forward** with the change process as well as the **'way back'** for the change (project) management team to be able to reconsider some previous activities or stage decisions (part of the **Continual Improvement purpose**). This retroactive approach ("retro-feedback mechanism") would allow for the stakeholders impacted by the change to be able to share observations and questions. The change is fully implemented when no further concentric implementation phases are necessary. There could be several concentric circles groupings representing sub-implementations within an overall programme of projects. In order terms, each grouping (of concentric circles) would represent one project within a programme.

This model could be applicable to any other federal department since it has been developed in such a way that it's very flexible in its application (items of the model can be modified at the user's needs) as the essence mainly resides in its incremental (phased) approach and the factors to consider.

7. Discussion – Conclusions

7.1 Answering Research Questions

Answering the two research questions

- What is the influence of the project leader on the change resulting from the TBS PM process and on the resistance mechanism against that change? (RQ1)
- What actions, behaviours, attitudes of the leader can potentially facilitate the change? (RQ2),

participants unanimously perceived that the project leader has a direct impact on the change and on the resistance mechanisms. They also think that a combination of skills, attitudes and behaviors on the leader's part will effectively reduce resistance to change. Not only do communication and social skills play an important role but specific actions are also instrumental in facilitating change. They also stated that all projects *do* have at least one team member who can be identified as the project leader.

Consequently, there always is an individual who can act as a change facilitator. With

this conclusion in mind, there are also other factors affecting change that should be considered.

7.2 Other research findings:

The preceding results are not unexpected. They in fact empirically confirm literature findings, this time in the specific context of a project management methodology and in a public service environment. The case study methodology allowed for a holistic, in-depth investigation of how project leadership impacts the resistance level to change. The study was directed to the reality of IM/IT in the public service. Using the CIOB of EC as the studied organization, it allowed for a phenomenologic qualitative research approach. The semi-structured interviews provided subjective perspectives on precise concepts but realistic viewpoints of Canadian federal employees going through current PM related changes.

Through data compilation and analysis of the findings (Table 11), this research brought up a few additional conclusions worth emphasizing:

- 1. As stated, the project leader will have a positive impact on the resistance level to change <u>only if he/she has useful and engaging social behaviours</u>. According to the participants, this ability to relate to fellow workers *is not based on the leader's personality per se*. It has been described as a set of behaviours that can be acquired through proper training.
- 2. No matter what the project leader's qualities and positive attitude are, his/her

success in reducing the resistance to change will be conditional to upper management support. It is thus a pre-condition to his/her success.

3. There are differences between the public and private sectors when influencing the resistance to change, namely: in government, the combined size of the money portfolio (budget) and <u>the visible involvement of high hierarchical</u> <u>authority</u> are significant factors influencing the resistance to change. This would arguably be different from the private sector, where the focus on the team's ability to generate profitable outcomes is typically central. The preceding statements are thought to be distinct from previous project management studies as this research is performed in the context of the Canadian government. In view of the current GoC reality changes (including the formal application of TBS' PM policy), the period of transitions, work positions being revisited, and the creation of the Agency "Shared Services Canada" (SSC), IM/IT organizations are effected in such a way that they have to review their approach in managing projects. It is hoped that this research findings and proposed conceptual model will constitute usable, practical tools in addressing some of the challenges the GoC employees are and will be facing.

7.3 Research Validity and Limitations

Reliability and validity of research findings are a condition to their usefulness.

Confidentiality and ethics in general were also a constant concern. The raw data has

80

been protected and verified by the research director as it has been recorded and stored in the director's possession. The confidentiality has been ensured and officialised through the use of confidentiality forms signed by each participant. All ethical aspects have been addressed and complied with the University du Québec en Outaouais' ethics code and conditions as well as with the 'Values and Ethics' code of the federal government. Clear terminology has been used for the interviews and consistent explanations have been provided whenever required by any participants. The research director also reviewed the analysis of the gathered data to ensure the researcher's impartial position on the results. Participants were free to provide any additional postinterview information when the purpose was to clarify raised items in their interviews. Triangulation has been made between the gathered information/data from the interviews with the reviewed literature and other studies. This triangulation permitted for the mapping of existing PM related tools (for all three studied concepts) with the research findings. Table 11 and the "Incremental PM Methodology Change Implementation Model" are explicit examples of the applicability of in-depth, proven and well known PM related studies contextualized into this research. Even if the gathered data is essentially taken from the case of the IM/IT branch of EC with perceptions of a specific group of employees, it is believed, because of the thoroughness in the application of the research methodology, that the results and findings are pertinent to fellow IM/IT federal organizations. The number of interviews reflected the desired saturation level. The conclusions are succinct yet general enough to be contextualized in any federal department.

7.5 Implication for Future Research

Project management is increasingly being recognized for its usefulness and value in the GoC. We have also seen that the GoC's bureaucratic system, where transparency of performance and status updates reporting are essential practices, has an impact on resistance to change. Therefore, in order to facilitate the reporting process of projects, there is a need to initially seek structure in the management and planning of these projects.

The originality and relevance of this research lays in its context, namely a project management methodology within the public sector, namely the Canadian federal government. The key findings are perceived to be useful and applicable and should be taken into consideration when addressing the questions of project management (PM) and change management (CM) in a governmental environment.

Future studies in the public service, in Canada or abroad, could further investigate the current findings by exploring means to structure projects and facilitate the project reporting process. In addition, the concept of the hierarchical and functional roles of the project leader could also be further investigated as this research exposed that the project leader would not necessarily be the project manager.

7.6 Contributions to the Project Management Knowledge

This research, with its overall findings and additional conclusions, is believed to have contributed to the overall knowledge and studies on the subject of project management. The unique aspect of studying the impact of project leadership on the resistance to change in the context of the federal government brings up the

importance of the human factor in dealing with projects. This research will hopefully

be the beginning of further studies on the human impact on projects.

8. References

- Aktouf, O., (1987). Méthodologie des sciences sociales et approche qualitative des organisations. Une introduction à la démarche classique et une critique. Montréal: Les Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Amburgey, T.L., Shashi, K., Sushil K., (2007). Public Agencies and Collaborative Management Approaches: Examining Resistance Among Administrative Professionals. *Administration and Society*, 39(5), 569-611.
- Battilana, J., Gilmartin, M., Sengul, M., Pache, A.-C., Alexander, J.A. (2010). Leadership Competencies for Implementing Planned Organizational Change. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 21, 422-438.
- Charih, M., Robert, J., (2004). Government On-Line in the Federal Government of Canada: the Organizational Issues. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 70(2), 373-384.
- Clarke, N., (2010). Emotional Intelligence and its Relationship to Transformational Leadership and Key Project Manager Competences. *Project Management Journal*, 41(2), 5-20.
- Collerette, P., Delisle, G., & Richard, P., (1997). Le changement organisationnel -Théorie et pratique. Sainte-Foy: Les Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Collerette, P., Legris, P., (2006). A Roadmap for IT Project Implementation: Integrating Stakeholders and Change Management Issues. *Project Management Institute*, 37(5), 64-75.

- Crawford, L., Costello, K., Pollack, J., Bentley, L., (2003). Managing Soft Change Projects in the Public Sector. *International Journal of Project Management*, 21, 443-448.
- Department of Justice Canada (2010). Financial Administration Act. Retrieved November 17, 2010. <u>http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/F-11/20101118/page-1.html?rp2=HOME&rp3=SI&rp1=federal%20public%20administration&rp4=all&rp5=financial%20administration&rp9=cs&rp10=L&rp13=50</u>
- Dulewicz, V., Higgs, M.J., (2005). Assessing Leadership Styles and Organizational Context. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 20, 105-123.
- Dulewicz, V., Higgs, M.J., (2004). A New Instrument to Assess Leadership Dimensions and Styles. Selection & Development Review, 20, 2, 7-12.
- Ferlie, E., McNulty, T., (2004). Process Transformation: Limitations to Radical Organizational Change within Public Service Organizations. Organization Studies, 25(8), 1389-1416.

- Fielder, S., (2010). Managing Resistance in an organizational transformation: A Case Study From a Mobile Operator Company. International Journal of Project Management, 28, 370-383.
- Gagnon, Y.C. (2005). L'étude de cas comme méthode de recherche : guide de réalisation. Québec : Les Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- Gehring, D.R., (2007). Applying Traits Theory of Leadership to Project Management. Project Management Journal, 38(1), 44-54.
- Geoghegan, L., Dulewicz, V., (2008). Do Project Managers' Leadership Competencies Contribute to Project Success? *Project Management Journal*, 39(4), 58-67.
- Gilley, A., Godek, M., Gilley, J., (2009). Change, Resistance, and the Organizational Immune System. SAM Advanced Management Journal, 4-10.
- Hornstein, H. (2010). Successes and Potential Obstacles to Change Management in the Public Service. *Ivey Business Journal – The Organization*, Novembre-December 2010.
- Huntoon, C.L., (1998). The Executive Point of View Managing Change. Project Management Journal, 5-6.
- Jacob, R., Rondeau, A., Normandin, F., (2008). La gestion du changement stratégique dans les organisations des secteurs public et parapublic : le point de vue des praticiens. *Télescope*, 107-113.

Kan, M.M., Ken, W.P., (2004). Identifying Paradox: A Grounded Theory of

- Leadership in Overcoming Resistance to Change. The Leadership Quarterly, 15, 467-491.
- Karp, T., I.T. Helgø, T., (2008). From Change Management to Change Leadership: Embracing Chaotic Change in Public Service Organizations. Journal of Change Management. 8(1), 85-96.
- Krysinki, P.R., Reed, D.B., (1994). Organization Change and Change Leadership. *The Journal of Leadership Studies*, 1(2), 65-72.
- Laframboise, D., L.Nelson, R., Schmaltz, J., (2003). Managing Resistance to Change in Workplace Accomodation Projects. *Journal of Facilities Management*, 1(4), 306-321.
- Langley, A., Denis, J-L., (2008). Les dimensions négligées du changement organisationnel. Télescope, 13-32.
- Lehmann, V., (2010). Connecting Changes to Projects Using a Historical Perspective: Towards Some New Canvases for Researches. International Journal of Project Management, 28, 328-338.

Lewin, K., (1951). Field Theory in Social Science. New York : Harper.

- Müller, R., Turner, J.R., (2010). Leadership Competency Profiles of Successful Project Managers. International Journal of Project Management, 28, 437-448.
- Müller, R., Turner, J.R., (2007). Matching the Project Manager's Leadership Style to Project Type. International Journal of Project Management, 25, 21-32.
- Office of Government Commerce (2007). Official PRINCE2[®] site, Retrieved November 28, 2010. http://www.prince-officialsite.com/home/home.asp
- Oreg, S., Berson, Y., (2009). Leaders' Characteristics and Behaviors and Employees Resistance to Organizational Change. Communication presented at the Annual Meeting Proceedings (Conference Theme: Green Management Matters), Haifa, Israel.
- Pinto, J. K., Thoms, P., Trailer, J., Palmer, T., Govekar, M., (1998). Project Leadership – from Theory to Practice. Pennsylvania: Project Management Institute.
- Project Management Institute (PMI), (2007). Project Management Competency Development Framework, (Second Edition). Newtown Square: PMI.
- Procca, A. E., (2008). Development of a Project Management Model for a Government Research and Development Organization. *Project Management Journal*, 39(4), 33-57.
- Professional Institute of the Public Service of Canada (2011). Shared Services Canada: What PIPSC has heard. Retrieved September 26, 2011.

http://www.pipsc.ca/portal/page/portal/website/issues/ssc/hearing/090811

- Public Service Alliance of Canada (2011). Work Force Adjustment Appendix Treasury Board Agreements. Retrieved October, 11, 2011. <u>http://www.psac-afpc.com/what/wfa/index-e.shtml</u>
- Public Works and Government Services Canada (2011). Government of Canada to Reduce Information Technology Costs and Save Taxpayers' Dollars. Retrieved September, 26, 2011. <u>http://news.gc.ca/web/article-eng.do?nid=614499</u>
- Saksvik, I.B., Hetland, H., (2009). Exploring Dispositional Resistance to Change. Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 16(2), 175-183.
- Szabla, D.B., (2007). A Multidimensional View of Resistance to Organizational Change: Exploring Cognitive, Emotional, and Intentional Responses to Planned Change Across Perceived Change Leadership Strategies. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 18(4), 525-558.

- Teri, E., T.Keller, T., (2003). Leadership in Research and development organizations: A Literature Review and Conceptual Framework. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 14, 587-606.
- Thoms, P., Pinto, J.K., (1999). Project Leadership: A Question of Timing. Project Management Journal. 30(1), 19-26.
- Treasury Board Secretariat (1994). Project Management Policy. Retrieved January 27, 2009. <u>http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/pol/doc-eng.aspx?id=12077 & section=text</u>
- Treasury Board Secretariat (2006). About the Secretariat. Retrieved September 3, 2009. <u>http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/tbs-sct/abu-ans/tbs-sct/abu-ans-eng.asp</u>
- Treasury Board Secretariat (2007). About the Treasury Board. Retrieved September 3, 2009. <u>http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/tbs-sct/abu-ans/tb-ct/abu-ans-eng.asp</u>
- Treasury Board Secretariat (2007), Areas of Management and Lines of Evidence to be Assessed in Round V. Retrieved April 30th, 2009. <u>http://www.tbssct.gc.ca/maf-crg/indicators-indicateurs/2007/elements-elements-eng.asp</u>
- Treasury Board Secretariat (2006), MAF Assessment Scale. Retrieved April 30th, 2009. <u>http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/maf-crg/assessments-evaluations/2006/scale-echelle-eng.asp</u>
- Treasury Board Secretariat (2010), Management Accountability Framework Leaflet. Retrieved Sept 29, 2010. <u>http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/maf-</u> crg/documents/leaflet-depliant/leaflet-depliant-eng.asp

Treasury Board Secretariat (2009). Policy on the Management of Projects.

- Retrieved August 31, 2010. <u>http://www.psagency-agencefp.gc.ca/pol/doc-eng.aspx?evttoo=X&id=18229§ion=text</u>
- Treasury Board Secretariat (2009). Project Complexity and Risk Assessment Tool. Retrieved August 31, 2010. <u>http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/pm-gp/doc/pcraecrp/pcra-ecrp-eng.aspx</u>
- Treasury Board Secretariat (2008). Standard for Project Complexity and Risk. Retrieved Sept 3, 2009. <u>http://www.psagency-agencefp.gc.ca/pol/doc-eng.aspx?evttoo=X&id=18229§ion=text</u>
- Treasury Board Secretariat (2010). Standard for Organizational Project Management Capacity. Retrieved August 31, 2010. <u>http://www.psagency-agencefp.gc.ca/pol/doc-eng.aspx?evttoo=X&id=18229§ion=text</u>

Treasury Board Secretariat (2007), TB Management Accountability Framework. Retrieved December 12, 2008. <u>http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/maf-crg/index-eng.asp</u>

- Turner, J.R., Müller, R., (2005). The Project Manager's Leadership Style as a Success Factor on Projects: A Literature Review. *Project Management Journal*, 36(1), 49-61.
- Vas, A., (2005). Revisiter la résistance au changement aux différents niveaux hierarchiques : une étude exploratoire. *Gestion 2000*, 5, Septembre-Octobre.
- Yan, L.-R., Huang, C.-F., Wu, K.-S., (2010). The Association Among Project Managers' Leadership Style, Teamwork and Project Success. International Journal of Project Management, doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2010.03.006.s
- Yin, R.K., (2009). Case Study Research Design and Methods (Fourth Edition), Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publication.

Annex A: The Canadian Federal Public Administration Structure

FEDERAL PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION



Lexicology :

Core Public Administration: organizations for which the Treasury Board is the employer, i.e. the departments listed in Schedule I of the

FAA and the other portions of the federal public administration as listed in Schedule IV of the FAA.

Crown: i.e. the Majesty in right of Canada.

Corporation: ("personne morale") a company or corporate body however or whenever incorporated.

Crown Corporation: ("société d'État") a parent Crown corporation or a wholly-owned subsidiary as listed in Schedule III-1 and III-2 of the FAA. Departments: organizations as listed in Schedule I of the FAA.

Departmental Corporation: organizations of the federal public administration as listed in Schedule II of the FAA.

FAA, Sch I.1: organizations as listed in Schedule I.1 of the FAA.

Federal Administration Act (FAA): Act providing the financial administration of the Government of Canada, the creation and maintenance of the accounts of Canada and the control of Crown corporations.

Federal Public Administration: include all federal organizations listed in Schedules I-V and identified as 'X' in the FAA.

Other Federal Organizations: organizations as identified by 'X' in the FAA.

Other Portions (within the Core public administration): other portions of the federal public administration as listed in Schedule IV of the FAA.

Public Service: all federal public working positions included within the core public administration and the separate agencies.

Separate Agencies: organizations for which the Separate Agency is the employer. The organizations of the federal public administration as listed in Schedule V of the FAA.

Special Operating Agencies (SOA): Even if SOAs remain part of their department organization, they have increase management flexibility in return of agreed pre-established levels of Performance and results ("framework agreement' between the SOA and its home department). They are therefore accountable for results to their home department.



Annex B: High Level Organization Chart of Environment Canada (as of April 30, 2011)



Annex C: High Level Organization Chart of Environment Canada (as of June 1, 2011)

Annex D: CIOB Project Management Framework

Environment Canada CIOB Project Management Methodology



Annex E: Example of a CIO Branch Operations Reporting (BOC) and a Monthly Operations Reporting (MOR)

Overa	II Status		and the			Project	Specifi			
Current	Forecast	Project Name	Manager / Director	Sched.	Budget	Scope	Risk	HR Staffing	Contracts	Highlights
0		Integrated Investment Planning (IIP)	Cathy C / Mark G.	•						 2010-11 December reallocation requests submitted Nov. 26 2010-11 Q3 Status report completed. Dec. 3 2011-12 Multi-year requests submitted to IIP Dec. 1
		Integrated Corporate Planning (ICP) - DPR - Operational Budgets - Business / PA Plans - ICP Narrative - CRP (Risk)	Shannon A. / Mark G.	•						 RPP: CIOB input completed CRP: CIOB input completed Mid Year review coming to an end Preparing for 2011-2012 Integrated Plan Lessons Learned completed Updating tools, templates ICP Narrative completed, CIOB input to ICP completed
	Ö.	Management Accountability Framework (MAF) - MAF VII Action Plan – Update completed - MAF VIII - Analysis and Evidence gathering completed	Deb B. / Mark G.		•	•	O		no e	 Completed November 18. Awaiting initial assessment (Feb 2011). Next steps: Analysis of submissions, develop plan to address gaps. Target: early Jan 2011.
	0	Accommodations Investment Plan (AIP)	Cathy C. / Greg T.	•	•	•	•			 2011-12 Multi-year AIP call letter sent to Directors Nov. 26. Contracts
Δ		Business Architecture	Chantal SG / Mark G.			\triangle		\triangle		 EA taking over as chair, Will now be reporting to BOC.
\triangle		IM&IT Strategy & Multi-Year Investment Plan	Mark G.	\triangle	\bigtriangleup			\triangle		 Priority Investment Proposal Process adopted 2010-11 IM&IT Plan v2.10 submitted via MAF VII
Δ		IM&IT Governance	Chantal SG / Mark G.		\triangle		\triangle	\triangle		 Governance key element of IT Resources Audit and MAF 2011 - AOM 3 Governance and Planning Review of scope & objectives

Annex F: Example of a Project Oversight Review Summary One Pager Report

Programme Name (it appellants als					EC	CIOB Project	t Highlight Re	port								
Toject Name:	XYZ.							Project Start:	April 1,	THE R. O. LOW TOWNED IN CO.	and have		t End: TBI	D		Project Health	R
roject Executive:	John Doe		and all provides	the state of the s			Execution	Project Repos		Webuile Ink			and the second se		1	Health	
Toject Manager:	Joanne Doe				and the owner of the	and the second	m: 1-Apr-11 [o: 3-Jun-11	Project Classif			new-Le	vel 1	Project II	and a support of the state of the			
ICIB Role(s)			1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			19.64	U. avairii	ABOM PROPERTY	varu mesung.				End-8	tage Revi	C/#	Budget	
Supplier														A DATE OF STREET			-
roject Managemen	t Products						ALC: NOT THE OWNER OF TAXABLE PARTY.	Tolerances								Schedule	YEL
			Sec. 19			1. 1. 2.	RED	Project	-	In man		-					
Project Brief	and a second sec	La contrata de	d Descriptions locumentation		Project Based App	behlox		Tolerances	Approved	% Usedi	RED	Toles		(sprawed	% Used	Scope	GR
Rak Register	and the second sec	Complexity	CONTRACTOR DATES	-				Budget			No	Budget	9			Risk	GR
	the second se	The second s	Na (SVESons)	One Time	0.0	oing.Wit:	and the second se				Approved					INDE	
usiness Case	N		Contraction in the second second second		ve. Slage	1	Barra Bie De clastin	Schedule		1.10	No Approved	Schedule				Issues	GR
and the second secon	Char		ve.Project beseline:	No Charge	tessire	On	Plan	·			Tolerance						
ry Business Outcome	and the second sec		and the second	. ohu	14			Protect Barton	-							1	No.
ON-TRACK HOM	The second se			and the later				Project Schedu			1		Project Laur	noh Date:	: Ap	11,2011	GR
ON-TRACK Ho 43				-		-		Project	States	A DOUCCE DO TANDA DE DE DE DE	dine	Actual /	Forecast	percent	Actu	Contraction of the second s	
ON-TRACK MALA	the second second second	4			-					STREET OF STREET, STRE	Dete	50	art C	laseline maintee	Fores	and the second	
CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER OWNE	STATE OF THE OWNER WATER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER						and the second se	Start-up Stage	Starting Friday	THE OWNER WHEN THE OWNER WHEN THE	n-10	COLUMN TRANSPORT	and the second se	0146.0	30-36	Contraction of the second s	0.0
nancial Summary (incost enollet)						OREEN	Change requests for m	porting war 2010	No. of Concession, name	n-10 n-10	1-44	And the Party of t	2-Apr-11	30-36	and the second se	2.0
Approve	d Project Budg						and the second se	Change request for rep			m-is	1344	and the second se	2-April 1	28-Ap 28-Ap		23
Actual/Forecas	The second s		1 million	W. Carl				Complete delayed fund	donality for Reporting	146	ny-11	1-14					
Approved	2007108 2008	2308	110 2010/11	2011/12	201213 3	13/14 23/14	15 2018/16 Total		to line in inter								
ctual/Ferricant				\$0.1			10.1	Pre-population with	aporting cide	13.6	11-11	13.3		3-Apr-11	13-Apr	STATE OF STREET, STREE	ILFI IO
	0-						1				detter and participant						
	0- 0-			and the second second		1		Cours Slage									
						and the second		Sonoffic Realization	n Review	N.Y.Y.							
	. 0-			in the second						S.C.S.CHERRY,				and the second sec	CXXX		1.1.3
	0-	al mark				and the second		Project Specialist	Products (Delive	cables to	Users)	6			1.5	$\tilde{u}_{\mu}^{(1)}$	2.15
"Costs endude G5"	0- 17 0-	01-	a.	<i>a</i> .	04. 0			Project Specialist	Products (Delive Current Sta		Users)				4	67 	F 15
		Q1- 19/11	02- 10711	Q3- 1011	Q4- Q1 10/11 11/1	2 11/12		Project Specialist	Corront Sta	ge Planned B	ut Not Yet	Total	Completed &		Project		F IS
04	0 - 0 - Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast	01- 19/1 \$0.00 \$0.00	02- 10711 \$0.00 \$0.00	10/11 \$0.00	04- 01 10/11 11/1 \$0.00 \$0.0 \$0.00 \$0.2	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Project Specialist Completed & Approved	Carrond Sta	•	ut Not Yet	Total	Completed & Approved		Project	Not Yet Started	Tot
84 •A	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast	10/11 \$0.00	\$0.00	10/11 \$0.00	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved	Carrent Sta In-Progress	ge Planned B Sta	ut Not Yet	Tobal	Completed & Approved		Project		F (S)
oject Risks Profile	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast	10/11 \$0.00	\$0.00	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Project Specialist Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope /	Carrent Sta In-Progress	ge Planned B Sta	ut Not Yet	Tobal	Completed & Approved		Project		To
oject Risks Profile Risk Register - lant updat	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast	10/11 \$0.00	\$0.00 \$0.00	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Risks:	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved	Carrent Sta In-Progress	e Planned 0 Sta Sta	ut Not Yes	Total 1 Extinue Effort I	Completed & Approved		Project ograss 1 3		To
Dject Risks Profile Rak Register - ket updat	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast	10/11 \$0.00	S0.00 S0.00 Top 3 R Risk # 0 Category	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Rieks: 1 : y :	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved	Carrent Sta In-Progress D Requests for (Rejucted	ge Planned B Sta Sta Stange Change	ut Not Yes	1 Extirm	Completed & Approved	and Cost	Project ograss 1 3	Not Yet Started	Te
Ject Risks Profile Risk Register - last updat I Risks Actively Hanaged	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast Actual / Forecast	10/11 \$0.00 \$0.00	50.00 50.00 Top 3 F	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Rieks: 1 : y :	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope /	Corrent Sta In-Progress B Requests for (Rejucted Rec	ge Planned B Sta Sta Stange Change	ut Not Yes	1 Extirm	Completed & Approved	and Cost	Project ograss 1 3	Not Yet Started	To 4
Dject Risks Profile Rak Register - Les updat al Risks Actively Haneged	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast Actual / Forecast	10/11 \$0.00 \$0.00	SD.00 SD.00 Top 3 R Risk # 0 Category Witigatio	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Rieks: 1 : y : m:	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope / This Stage Project To Date	Corrent Sta In-Progress IN Requests for (Rejucted RFC Interc Interc Interc	ge Planned B Sta Sta Stange Change	ut Not Yes	1 Extirm	Completed & Approved	and Cost	Project ograss 1 3	Not Yet Started	Ta
Dject Risks Profile Risk Register - last updat al Risks Actively Hanaged	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast Actual / Forecast	10/11 \$0.00 \$0.00	SD.00 SD.00 Top 3 F Risk # 01 Category Witigatio	1 : 1 : 1 : 1 : 1 : 2 :	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope / This Stage Project To Date Project Issues	Corrent Sta In-Progress B Requession for (Rejected Rejected B S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	ge Planned 0 Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta	ut Not Yel ted	1 Extinue Effort I	Completed & Approved I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	and Cost	Project ograss 1 3	Not Yet Started	
Dject Risks Profile Risk Register - last updat al Risks Actively Nanaged	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast Actual / Forecast	10/11 \$0.00 \$0.00	SD.00 SD.00 Top 3 R Risk # 0 Category Witigatio	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Rieks: 1 : y : m: 2 : y :	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope / This Stage Project To Date Project Issues	Corrent Sta In-Progress I Requirests for (Rejected Rejected Ref I acues Insues Insues	ge Planned 0 Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta	In Nick Yes and Connect	1 Extinue Effort I	Completed & Approved B Bed # Exten Days Exten B	and Cost	Project ograss 1 3	Not Yet Stanted	
Cject Risks Profile Risk Register - last updat si Risks Actively Managed Si Risks Actively Managed	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast de	10/11 \$0.00 \$0.00	SD.00 SD.00 Top 3 F Risk # 0 Category Witigatio Risk # 05 Category Witigatio	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Rieks: 1 : y : m: 2 : y : m:	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope / This Stage Project To Date Project Issues	Corrent Sta In-Progress I Requirests for (Rejected Rejected Ref I acues Insues Insues	ge Planned 0 Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta	In Nick Yes and Connect	1 Extinue Effort 1 Non	Completed & Approved B Bed # Exten Days Exten B	and Cost	Project ognes ()))))))))))))))))))	Not Yet Stanted	
Dject Risks Profile Risk Register - last updat al Risks Actively Managed II Risks Actively Managed	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast de	10/11 \$0.00 \$0.00	SD.00 SD.00 Top 3 F Risk # 0 Category Witigatio Risk # 05 Category	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Rieks: 1 : y : m: 2 : y : m:	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope / This Stage Project To Date Project Issues	Corrent Sta In-Progress I Requirests for (Rejected Rejected Ref I acues Insues Insues	ge Planned 0 Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta	In Nick Yes and Connect	1 Extinue Effort 1 Non	Completed & Approved B Bed # Exten Days Exten B	and Cost	Project ognes ()))))))))))))))))))	Not Yet Stanted	
Dject Risks Profile Risk Register - Lost updat al Risks Actively Nanaged Disk Register - Lost updat al Risks Actively Nanaged Necture 0 S Necture 0	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast de	10/11 \$0.00 \$0.00	SD.00 SD.00 Top 3 F Risk # 0 Category Witigatio Risk # 05 Category Witigatio	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Rieks: 1 : y : m: 2 : y : m:	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope / This Stage Project To Date Project Issues	Corrent Sta In-Progress I Requirests for (Rejected Rejected Ref I acues Insues Insues	ge Planned 0 Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta	In Nick Yes and Connect	1 Extinue Effort 1 Non	Completed & Approved B Bed # Exten Days Exten B	and Cost	Project ognes ()))))))))))))))))))	Not Yet Stanted	
Cject Risks Profile Risk Register - Lost updat al Risks Actively Nanaged	Approved Allocation Actual / Forecast de	10/11 \$0.00 \$0.00	SD.00 SD.00 Top 3 F Risk # 0 Category Witigatio Risk # 05 Category Witigatio	1011 \$0.00 \$0.00 Rieks: 1 : y : m: 2 : y : m:	10/11 11/1 \$0:00 \$0:0	2 11/12 0 \$10.00		Completed & Approved 0 Project Scope / This Stage Project To Date Project Issues	Corrent Sta In-Progress I Requirests for (Rejected Rejected Ref I acues Insues Insues	ge Planned 0 Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta Sta	In Nick Yes and Connect	1 Extinue Effort 1 Non	Completed & Approved B Bed # Exten Days Exten B	and Cost	Project ognes ()))))))))))))))))))	Not Yet Stanted	

93

Group	Competency	Goal	Involving ²⁰	Engaging ²¹
		Oriented ¹⁹	(L/M/H)	(L/M/H)
<u>i</u>		(L/M/H)		
Intellectual (IQ)	1. Critical analysis &	High	Medium	Medium
	judgment			
	2. Vision and imagination	High	High	Medium
	3. Strategic perspective	High	Medium	Medium
Managerial (MQ)	4. Engaging communication	Medium	Medium	High
	5. Managing resources	High	Medium	Low
	6. Empowering	Low	Medium	High
	7. Developing	Medium	Medium	High
	8. Achieving	High	Medium	Medium
Emotional (EQ)	9. Self-awareness	Medium	High	High
	10. Emotional resilience	High	High	High
	11. Motivation	High	High	High
	12. Interpersonal Sensitivity	Medium	Medium	High
	13. Influencing	Medium	High	High
	14. Intuitiveness	Medium	Medium	High
	15. Conscientiousness	High	High	High

Annex G: Leadership Competencies and Leadership Styles based on Dulewicz and Higgs's Studies (2003, 2005)

Leadership Competency and Profile Descriptions

Intellectual Competencies (IQ)

1. Critical analysis and judgment: leader gathers relevant information from a wide range of sources, probing the facts, identifying advantages and disadvantages. Sound judgments and decisions making, awareness of the impact of any assumptions made.

- 2. *Vision and imagination*: the leader is imaginative and innovative. He or she has a clear vision of the future and foresee the impact of changes on implementation issues and business realities.
- 3. *Strategic perspective*: the leader is aware of the wider issues and broader implications. He or she balances short and long-term considerations and identifies opportunities and threats.

Managerial Competencies (MQ)

4. *Engaging communication*: the leader engages others and wins their support through communication tailored for each audience. He or she is approachable and accessible.

19, 14, 15 : Leadership Styles

- 5. *Resource management*: the leader organizes resources and co-ordinates them efficiently and effectively. He or she establishes clear objectives and converts long term goals into action plans.
- 6. *Empowering*: the leader gives direct reports autonomy and encourages them to take on challenges, to solve problems and develop their own accountability.
- 7. *Developing*: the leader encourages others to take on ever more-demanding tasks, roles and accountabilities. He or she develops others' competencies and invests time and effort in coaching them.
- 8. Achieving: the leader shows an unwavering determination to achieve objectives and implement decisions.

Emotional Competencies (EQ)

- 9. *Self-awareness*: the leader is aware of his or her own feelings and able to recognize and control them.
- 10. *Emotional resilience*: the leader is able to maintain consistent performance in a range of situations. He or she retains focus on a course of action or the need to obtain certain results in the face of personal challenge or criticism.
- 11. Motivation: the leader has drive and energy to achieve clear results and make an impact.
- 12. (Interpersonal) Sensitivity: the leader is aware of, and takes account of, the needs and perceptions of others in arriving at decisions and proposing solutions to problems and challenges.
- 13. Influencing: the leader can persuade others to change a viewpoint based on the understanding of their position and the recognition of the need to listen to this perspective and provide a

- rationale for change.
- 14. *Intuitiveness*: the leader arrives at clear decisions and is able to drive their implementation in the face of incomplete or ambiguous information by using both rational and 'emotional' perceptions.
- 15. Conscientiousness: the leader displays clear commitment to a course of action in the face of challenge and matches 'words and deeds' in encouraging others to support the chosen direction.

<u>Engaging leadership style</u>: a style based on empowerment and involvement in highly transformational context. This leadership style is focused on producing radical change through engagement and commitment.

<u>Involving leadership style</u>: a style for transitional organizations which face significant, but not necessarily radical change of their business model or way of work.

<u>Goal oriented leadership style</u>: a style focused on delivery of clearly understood results in a relatively stable context

Annex H: Interview Guide

Purpose of the research and the interview

Research purpose: We are soliciting your participation in a research at the Université du Quebec en Outaouais entitled:

"How Project Leadership Reduces Resistance to Change: The Case of the Chief Information Officer Branch (CIOB) of Environment Canada (EC)."

This study aims at providing factors to be considered by project managers at the CIOB-EC to increase the chances of a successful implementation of a new project management procedure. To help in the implementation and contextualization of this objective, a project implementation model solution and possible conditions for its application will be developed. By soliciting experienced project members (project leads, project managers and project executives), a practical perspective of the main resistance and challenges when introducing changes in the Government of Canada will be exposed.

Purpose of the interview: gather relevant information from stakeholders in order to understand and acknowledge their perceptions, beliefs and opinions.

Name of the EC-CIOB Directorate: Work Location: Respondent Work Classification: Respondent Job Title: Duration: Starting Time: Ending Time: Frequency: In case an interview is divided into a certain period of time Respondent Data Information Verification and Presentations (e.g. Rights, Experience,

Responsibilities, Consent from supervisor(s), etc.):

Overview of Interview Layout: Semi-structured i.e. with structured and open questions. Recorded, transcribed.

Confirmation of informed consent and signatures: A consent form will be signed before any interview by both the interviewee and the interviewer.

Preliminary Questions (i.e. before Start) if any:

Start of recording:

(Mark start time)

I- <u>Change:</u>

- **I.1** What is your current approach to project management?
- **I.2** Since the arrival of the recent TBS project management policy and the use of PM methodologies (e.g. PRINCE2[®] methodology) in the CIOB, what is (or was) your general impression about this change?

I.3 How do you perceive the preceding will (is) change (ing) your daily work? **I.4** What do you feel is required to face these changes? II- <u>Resistance to Change</u>

(Track time status)

II.1 Do you feel you presently have access to the required resources to face the changes? If not, what do you think is missing?

II.2 What are your expectations in terms of support from the organization?

II.3 Do you feel this change will affect your future plans in the organization? How?

II.4 Do you feel this change will affect the relationships between employees and/or yourself? How?

II.5 Do you expect resistance from some employees? What kind?

II.6 What do you perceive would potentially decrease/increase this resistance?

III- Project Leadership and its Impact on Change

(Track time status)

- **III.1** How do you perceive the role of the project leader in the context you have described?
- **III.2** What impact do you think the project leader would have in that described context?
- **III.3** What do you perceive would be the project leader competencies (i.e. actions/behaviours /attitudes) that could potentially <u>facilitate</u> the change?
- **III.4** What do you perceive would be the project leader "competencies" (i.e. actions/behaviours/attitudes) that could potentially <u>adversely effect</u> the change?

A posteriori questions:

IV - Context

- IV.1 For how long have you been working for the GoC?
- IV.2 How long have you been working in the PM Field? (PM Field includes any project team work without necessarily being project manager positions).
- IV.3 How much of your PM work/experience has been within the GoC?

End of recording

(Mark end time – Track time length)

Thank the participant; offer to share the results.

Annex I: Consent and Confidentiality Agreement Form



Mailbox1250, succursale B, Gatineau (Quebec), Canada, J8X 3X7 Tél.: 819 595-3900 www.uqo.ca

Consent Form

How Project Leadership Reduces Resistance to change: The Case Study of the Chief Information Officer Branch (CIOB) of Environment Canada (EC)

Valerie Lundy, Eng., Project Management Advisor (Environment Canada), Project Management Grad Student (UQO)

We are soliciting your participation to the titled research. By interviewing *project leads, project managers and project executives*, a practical perspective of the implications of implementing change (via projects) in the CIOB of EC. The main result of this research will be the assessment of factors potentially facilitating the implementation of project management change and possible conditions for their application at the EC-CIOB.

Your participation in this research implies that you will spend 60 to 90 minutes answering questions on two main areas: information pertaining to the you and your working environment, and questions regarding different perceptions related to project management, e.g. change, resistance to change, project leadership and the impact of project leadership on change. This interview will take place in your work office or at a location of your choice. The interview will be recorded on a digital device, for further analysis.

All the gathered information for this study is entirely confidential and will not be made public in a form that may lead to the interviewee's identification. This confidentiality will be guaranteed through the following measures:

- 1. Your name will not appear on any report;
- Not only will the information be identified by a code only, but we will make sure that the link between individual answers will not make identification of the individual source possible;
- 3. Under no circumstances will the individual results be communicated to anyone.

The results of this research may be published exclusively in an academic environment or in public conferences. Once published, the results will also be available to you upon request.

The main data and results will be safely kept, locked at the research Director, Professor Pierre-Paul Morin's from the Department of Administration Sciences at the Université du Quebec en Outaouais, Office B-2064. Professor Morin will be granted access to the results. The results will be destroyed after 2 years and will not be used for other purposes than the ones specified in this document.

Your participation in this study is on a voluntary basis. You are entirely free to participate or not, and to withdraw at any time without prejudice. There is, in our

standpoint, no sizable risk related to your participation or direct consequences on your work. The only cost/risk to you is the time required to participate to the research study. Your contribution to the body of knowledge concerning providing factors to be considered by project managers at the CIOB-EC in succeeding in the implementation of change (via projects) is the direct anticipated benefit of your participation. No monetary compensation is allowed.

If you have any further questions pertaining to the subject of this project research, you can contact either the project researcher Valerie Lundy at br the research Director, Professor Pierre-Paul Morin at 9

If you have questions pertaining to the ethical aspect of this project, please contact Lucie Villeneuve, resource person on questions of Ethics in research from Universite du Quebec en Outaouais at

Your signature attests that you have clearly understood the information concerning your participation to this research and infers your acceptance to participate. It does not suggest that you wave your rights and waive the researchers or the research authorities from their legal or professional responsibilities. Your participation should be as clear as your initial decision to participate in this study; you have to be aware of all the main matters related to this research. Henceforth, you should not hesitate to request explanations or new information throughout this research.

With your permission, we would like to be able to keep the gathered data at the end of this research for subsequent research activities. As for this specific research, we will maintain confidentiality on your personal information and your identity and respect the same ethical rules.

It is not mandatory to consent to this latter portion to participate at this research. If you decline, your data will be destroyed at the end of the current research. If you accept, your data will be kept for a period of two (2) years following the end of this project research and then will be destroyed.

- I accept a secondary use of the information that I will provide.
- I refuse a secondary use of the information that I will provide.

After acknowledging the information concerning my participation to this research, I apply my signature, which implies my freewill to participate. The form is signed in two copies and I will keep one of the two copies.

Name of Respondent:		
Respondent Signature:	Date:	
Name of Project Researcher:		
Project Researcher Signature:	Date:	

		CIO	B DIRECTO	ORATES ²²			
Work Classification	BASD (#)	IMD (#)	MPSD (#)	OPSD (#)	SSOCIO (#)	Total	Note
AS1	5	4	4	8	5	26	AS: Administrative Services
AS2	1	0	1	7	5	14	
AS3	1	4	1	2	1	9	
AS4		2		1	2	5	
AS5		1		1	3	5	
AS6	(SBALLARIA)	1			2	3	
AS7		1				1	
CS1	37	3	12	90	1	143	CS: Computer Systems
CS2	97	9	47	119	4	276	
CS3	54	14	22	73	8	171	
CS4	22	5	10	21	19	77	
CS5	5	3	2	7	5	22	
CR4	1	13		3	3	20	CR: Clerical & Regulatory
CR5		2				2	н. н
EC1		7				7	EC: Economics and Social Science Services
EC2	See and	6				6	11.11
EG4			12			12	EG: Engineering and Scientific Support
EX1		1			2	3	EX: Executive
EX2	1	1	1	1	3	7	н н
EX4		1			1	1	11 11
GT1				SEL DE COM		0	GT: General Technical
GT2		1	A State of the second second			1	п. п
LS1		1		ALL PROPERTY		1	LB: Library Services
LS2		14	the states			14	
LS3		7	and the second			7	H H
LS4						0	
LS5		2			R. Marker I	2	H H
PC1	State of the second					0	PC: Physical Sciences
PC2		3		No Market		3	11 11
PC3		2			No. Carlos Contra	2	
PM5	1					1	PM: Programme Administration
Total for each Directorate	225	107	112	333	64	841	

Annex J: Chief Information Officer Branch's Employees' Distribution

Directorates Legende:

BASD: Business Applications & Solutions Directorate IMD: Information Management Directorate MPSD: Major Projects & Supercomputing Directorate OPSD: Infrastructure Operations Directorate SSOCIO: Service Standards & Office of the CIO Directorate

²² Approximate numbers (2% margin error) – As of January 2011





Université du Québec en Outaouais

Case postale 1250, succursale B, Hull (Québec), Canada J8X 3X7 Téléphone (819) 595-3900 www.ugo.ca

Gatineau, le 22 juin 2011

Madame Valérie Lundy Étudiante Département de sciences administratives

- c. c. Pierre-Paul Morin Professeur Département de sciences administratives Université du Québec en Outaouais
- Objet : « How Project Leadership Reduces the Resistance to Change: The Case of the Chief Information Branch of Environment Canada. » Demande de certificat d'éthique

Dossier: 1414

Bonjour madame Lundy,

Je tiens d'abord à vous remercier des précisions et des modifications que vous avez apportées suite à nos commentaires. Suite à l'examen de l'ensemble de la documentation reçue, je constate que votre projet rencontre les normes éthiques établies par l'UQO. Par ailleurs, je prends également note que vous nous ferez parvenir une copie de l'approbation de l'organisation une fois que vous l'aurez obtenue. Madame Lucie Villeneuve, du secrétariat général, fera un suivi à cet effet.

C'est donc avec plaisir que je joins le certificat d'approbation éthique qui est valide pour une durée d'un an à compter de sa date d'émission. Votre approbation éthique pourra être renouvelée par le Comité d'éthique de la recherche suite à la réception du Rapport de suivi continu requis en vertu de la *Politique d'éthique de la recherche avec des êtres humains.* De fait, toute recherche en cours doit faire l'objet d'une surveillance éthique continue et cette responsabilité relève des chercheurs eux-mêmes. Pour plus d'information, je vous invite à consulter le site internet de l'éthique (<u>http://www4.uqo.ca/recherche/ethique/index.asp</u>). Toute modification au protocole de recherche devra être soumise au Comité d'éthique pour validation avant la mise en œuvre des modifications.

Par conséquent, vous devez faire parvenir au Comité d'éthique de la recherche un Rapport de suivi continu le ou avant le **22 juin 2012**. Dans l'éventualité où une demande de renouvellement de l'approbation éthique serait requise, vous devrez déposer votre Rapport au moins 45 jours avant l'échéance du certificat afin de vous assurer d'avoir une approbation éthique valide pendant toute la durée de vos activités de recherche.

Je demeure à votre disposition pour toute information supplémentaire et vous souhaite bon succès dans la réalisation de cette étude.

André Durivage Président Comité d'éthique de la recherche

p. j.

Notre référence : 1414

CERTIFICAT D'APPROBATION ÉTHIQUE

Le Comité d'éthique de la recherche a examiné le projet de recherche intitulé :

- Projet : « How Project Leadership Reduces the Resistance to Change: The Case of the Chief Information Branch of Environment Canada ».
- Soumis par : Madame Valérie Lundy Étudiante Département de sciences administratives

Financement : Non

Le Comité a conclu que la recherche proposée respecte les principes directeurs de la Politique d'éthique de la recherche avec des êtres humains de l'Université du Québec en Outaouais.

Ce certificat est valable jusqu'au 22 juin 2012.

Au nom du Comité,

André Durivage Président Comité d'éthique de la recherche

Date d'émission : Le 22 juin 2011